
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 07895 213740 
 

 

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 21 February 2022 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Planning Committee 

 

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 2 MARCH 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
 

FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ 
 
If you are attending in person you will need to bring a portable device, such as a 
laptop or tablet to listen to and watch the meeting. You will also need to bring a 
headset/headphones. 

 

Members of the Committee: 

David Bretherton (Chair) 

Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair) 
Ken Arlett 
Tim Bearder 
Victoria Haval 

Elizabeth Gillespie 
Lorraine Hillier 
Axel Macdonald 
Jo Robb 

Ian Snowdon 
Alan Thompson 

 
Substitutes 

vacancy 
Celia Wilson 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye 
Stefan Gawrysiak 

Alexandrine Kantor 
Mocky Khan 
Jane Murphy 
Caroline Newton 

Sue Roberts 
David Turner 
Kellie Hinton 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 

Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

1  Chair's announcements   
 

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters. 
 
2  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members. 
 
3  Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 14) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meeting 
held on Wednesday 12 January 2022. 
 
4  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.    
 
5  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn. 

 
6  Proposals for site visits   

 
7  Public participation   

 
To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.   
 

Development control applications 

 
 

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information 

 
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number.  
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting. 

 

 
Summary index of applications 

 



  3 

 

 Site Address Proposal Application No Page 

 
     
8  P21/S3371/FUL 

- Tree Tops 
House, Gillotts 
Lane, Henley-
on-Thames   

Demolition of house. Construction of 
five apartments with detached car 
ports and bin/cycle store. 

P21/S3371/FUL 15 - 34 

 

     
9  P21/S4250/FUL 

- 25 Glebe 
Road, Didcot   

Change of use to 7 bedroom House 
in Multiple Occupation (Sui Generis) 
(as amended by plans received on 
the 20 December 2021 and 18 
February 2022). 

P21/S4250/FUL 35 - 48 

 

     
10  P21/S3973/FUL 

- 14 Haydon 
Road, Didcot   

Change of use of dwelling house 
(C3) to a large 10-bedroom House in 
Multiple Occupation (Sui genesis) 
facilitated by two storey side 
extensions, a single storey rear 
extension, and extension to the 
dropped kerb to create additional 
parking. 

P21/S3973/FUL 49 - 64 

 

     
11  P21/S5378/FUL 

- Ridgeway 
House, 1A 
Hagbourne 
Road, Didcot   

Change of use of the existing office 
to a large (Sui Generis) House in 
Multiple Occupation (HMO) with the 
addition of a rear dormer. 

P21/S5378/FUL 65 - 80 

 

     
12  P21/S1458/FUL 

- Wayside, 
Stert Road, 
Chinnor   

Demolition of existing three bedroom 
detached dwelling house and 
outbuildings; construction of new 
private self-contained seven 
bedroom dwelling house with 
landscaping (as amended to reduce 
the scale of the development and 
revise the layout). 

P21/S1458/FUL 81 - 98 

 



  4 

 

 

 

 



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the  

Planning Committee 

 
held on Wednesday, 12 January 2022 
at 6.00 pm in First Floor Meeting 
Space, 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton 
Park, OX14 4SB 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Open to the public, including the press 
 
Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim 
Bearder, Victoria Haval, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, Jo Robb, 
Ian Snowdon and Alan Thompson 
Officers: Paul Bateman and Paula Fox 

Guests: Councillors David Turner and Councillor Ian White 
 

Remote attendance: 
Councillors: Kate Gregory, Lynn Lloyd and Caroline Newton   
Officers: Nat Bamsey, Paul Bowers, Lilua Iheozor-Ejiofor, Kim Gould and Caitlin 
Phillpotts, Susie Royse, Emily Tucker and Tom Wyatt   
 

 
49 Chair's announcements  

 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed in 
an in-person meeting which was simultaneously broadcast and advised on emergency 
evacuation arrangements. 

 
50 Minutes of the previous meetings  

 
The minutes of the meetings of the committee held on Wednesday 27 October 2021 
and Wednesday 3 November 2021 were agreed to be the correct record of the 
meetings. It was agreed that the chair sign them as such. 
 
 

 
51 Declarations of interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 
52 Urgent business  

 
There was no urgent business. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

 
53 Proposals for site visits  

 
There were no proposals for site visits. 

 
54 Public participation  

 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting. Statements which had been received had been sent to the committee prior to 
the meeting. 

 
55 P21/S1638/FUL - Land to the rear of 60-66 High Street, Chalgrove  

 
The committee considered planning application P21/S1638/FUL for the demolition of 
garage block, erection of a pair of single storey 2-bed dwellings, as amplified by SAP 
information received on 14 June 2021, as amplified by drainage strategy and flood risk 

assessment received 10 August 2021 on land to the rear of 60-66 High Street, 

Chalgrove. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting. The planning officer reported that since the publication of the agenda, 
Chalgrove Parish Council had withdrawn its objection to the application. A letter from 
the parish council dated Friday 7 January 2022 had been sent to the committee on 
Monday 10 January 2022 by the democratic services officer. 
 
The planning officer reported that this application related to the demolition of eight 
garages behind the parade of shops and the construction of two single storey 
dwellings. The planning officer summarised the objections which had been made to 
the application, which included issues of overdevelopment, inappropriate access and 
lack of parking, proximity to existing gardens, loss of gardens to the flats, and 
residential amenity, including garden sizes. 
 
The planning officer also reported that the applicant was advised at pre application 
stage that a single storey development would assist in avoiding any direct overlooking 
to neighbours. The applicant had acknowledged this and had submitted a scheme 
which was single storey in design.  
 
Both properties had garden sizes which exceeded the council’s standard of 50 square 
metres for a 2-bed dwelling. House 1 had a rear garden of 51 square metres, whilst 
house 2 had a garden of 77 square metres. As such, the proposal provided adequate 
private amenity space to accord with the South Oxfordshire design guide’s standards 
and policy DES5 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP). 
 
The planning officer advised the committee that the access arrangements to the 
proposed development had been carefully examined and that the Oxfordshire County 
Council, the highways authority, had no objection. The pre-existing bin collection 
arrangements would continue.  
 
The design guide stated that a 10 metre gap should exist between the rear of a 
property and the rear boundary. For this proposal, the distance was 4.5 metres. The 
proposed dwellings, however, would be limited to a single storey, with a maximum 

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

modest ridge height of 4 metres. As such, the proposed dwellings would not appear to 
be visually intrusive or overbearing. The planning officer also reported that in the 
interests of good neighbourliness, the boundaries of the proposal prior to first 
occupation would be carefully considered; a scheme for the provision of boundary 
treatment would be included as an additional proposed planning condition. 
 
The planning officer reported on possible flood risk to the development. The site was 
situated in flood zones 1, 2 and 3. The council’s drainage engineer had initially lodged 
a holding objection to this proposal on the grounds that a flood risk assessment (FRA) 
was required, due to the site’s location within flood zones 2 and 3.  An FRA was 
subsequently submitted, and the council’s drainage engineer had raised no objection 
to the proposal on drainage grounds. He had confirmed that the information submitted 
demonstrated that an emergency vehicle could access the site into flood zone 1 and 
that a feasible surface water drainage strategy had been demonstrated. The drainage 
engineer no longer raised an objection to the proposal on flooding grounds. 
 
The planning officer reported on biodiversity aspects of the proposed development. 
The agent had submitted a biodiversity statement which demonstrated that there 
would be a net gain of 14 square metres of green space as a result of the proposal. 
The council’s countryside officer had considered the applicant’s biodiversity statement. 
That officer had advised that compliance with council policy ENV3 (biodiversity) could 
be secured with the delivery of the two bird boxes, two bat boxes and insect bricks. 
 
Mr. Richard Thomas, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Councillor David Turner, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
Planning officers considered that the redevelopment of this site by the removal of the 
garages and the incorporation of the neglected garden area into functioning rear 
gardens would enhance the character and visual amenity of the area and would not 
detract from the established character of the area. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S1638/FUL subject to 
the following conditions: 
 

1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 
2.  Approved plans  
3. Materials as on plan 
4. Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions 

etc. 
5. Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc. 
6. Energy Statement Verification 
7. Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained  
8. Cycle Parking (approved plans) 
9. Surface Water Drainage 

10. Electrical vehicles charging point 
11. Compliance condition ecology 
 
Additional condition on boundary treatment; 

 

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

‘Prior to the construction of any development above slab level a scheme for the 
provision of boundary treatment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall be implemented prior to the first 
occupation or use of development and thereafter be maintained in accordance with 
the approved scheme unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.’ 

 
56 P21/S2860/FUL - Land between The Plough House and Frogmore, 
Stadhampton Road, Little Milton  

 
The committee considered planning application P21/S2860/FUL for a replacement 
access (as amended by updated description on the 20th of October 2021 and 
amended plans on the 25th of November 2021) on land between The Plough House 
and Frogmore, Stadhampton Road, Little Milton. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.  
 
The planning officer reported that the proposal required no additional works apart from 
cutting back vegetation by the roadside, including some orchids. The committee was 
concerned at the potential loss of the orchids and the planning officer informed 
members that the council’s ecology officer had been consulted, who advised that the 
landowner was empowered to remove these flowers at any time and that it was not 
reasonable of the council to impose a planning condition about this issue.  Also, the 
loss of the section of hedgerow would result in a loss of biodiversity, as hedgerows 
provided a habitat and food that supported a number of species. However, this loss 
would be mitigated through requiring a hedge to be planted across the existing 
access, which would ensure there was no net loss of biodiversity from the 
development. 
 
The committee was informed that the development was considered to cause a low 
level of less than substantial harm to the setting of nearby Plough House, and the 
character and appearance of the conservation area. In accordance with paragraph 
202 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and council policies ENV7 and 
ENV8, for the development to accord with these policies, this harm should be 
outweighed by public benefits of the development. 
 
The committee noted the extensive planning history to the site, dating back to 1982. 
The previous decisions relating to the site were material to the assessment of this 
application by officers, but the planning officer advised that these decisions, or the 
applicant’s apparent intentions, could not be a factor in the committee’s determination 
on this application.  An application for a dwelling would have to be the subject of a 
separate application. 
 
Councillor Caroline Newton, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
The committee concluded that there were no planning grounds for a refusal of 
planning permission, but that steps should be taken to protect the orchids via an 
informative. 
 

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S2860/FUL subject to 
the following conditions: 
 

1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission     
2. Approved plans. 
3. New vehicular access. 
4. New hedge required. 
5. Close existing access. 
6. Access and Vision Splays. 
7. Vision splay protection. 

 
Informative regarding works within the highway. 
 
Additional informative regarding preservation of orchids. 

 
57 P20/S3379/FUL and P21/S2504/LB - Three Horseshoes, Chinnor 
Road, Towersey  

 
The committee considered planning applications P20/S3379/FUL and P21/S2504/LB 
in respect of Three Horseshoes, Chinnor Road, Towersey, namely; 
 
Application P20/S3379/FUL; conversion of outbuilding to a dwelling utilising existing 
access, with associated landscaping and parking (as per amended plans and 
supporting information submitted 3 November 2020) (as per additional and amended 
drainage details submitted 8 December 2020) 
 
Application P21/S2504/LB; change of use of existing outbuilding (Sui Generis) to 
provide one dwelling (Use Class C3) utilising existing access, with associated 
landscaping and parking (as per amended plans showing the removal all rooflights 
and the relocation of the internal doorway which connects the main barn to the smaller 
outbuilding, submitted 9 August 2021), (as per amended plans to include the provision 
of two times small domestic outbuildings and patio area, submitted 6 September 
2021), (as per flood resilience strategy and updated heritage statement submitted 23 
November 2021). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.  
 
The planning officer reported that this application had been brought before the 
committee at the development manager’s discretion owing the level of public interest 
that it had attracted and in consultation with Councillor Ian White, a local ward 
member. 
 
The planning officer reported that the application site was located within the built-up 
limits of Towersey and inside the Towersey conservation area. The committee noted 
that the site did not lie inside any flood zones, but due to the flat topography across 
the site and the presence of an existing watercourse, it was at significant risk of 
flooding from surface water (fluvial flooding). The committee noted slide photographs 

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

of the site under recent flood conditions. The planning officer reported that the risk of 
flooding remained low. 
 
The planning officer reported that the application was in keeping with the local plan 
and acceptable in principle. The barn had existing and historic uses but in council 
planning officers’ considerations this evidence did not justify a listing as a community 
asset. The public house was protected under policy CF 1 (safeguarding community 
facilities) of the local plan.  The development would not affect the ongoing operation of 
the public house and planning officers considered that the development would not 
result in loss of community facilities, particularly because of the existence of the 
nearby well-equipped Towersey Memorial Hall.  Two thirds of the existing garden area 
would be retained in the development and the green open space to the front of the plot 
would be largely retained. Also, the employment use of the site would be retained. The 
planning officer also reported that a housing unit would be welcome in this area of 
high demand. The vitality and viability of the area would not be affected by the 
proposal.  The conservation officer considered that all mitigation possible to convert 
this barn to residential use had been undertaken and that this scheme represented the 
least harmful means of converting the barn to residential use. Additionally, the officer 
considered that the removal of the modern non-hydroscopic building materials across 
the building and their replacement with appropriate heritage materials, the addition of 
appropriate flood resilience measures, which would ensure the protection of the listed 
building, were all satisfactory. On balance, the conservation mitigation outweighed the 
low level of less than substantial harm to the listed building. 
 
Councillor Mark Davis, a representative of Towersey Parish Council, spoke objecting 
to the application. 
 
Mr. Jeremy Clark, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
Councillor Ian White, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
Mr. Jake Russell, the agent, spoke in support of the application. 
 
A statement by Mr Chris Neale was sent to the committee by the democratic services 
officer prior to the meeting. 
 
A statement by Mr. Hugh Riley was sent to the committee by the democratic services 
officer prior to the meeting. 
 
A statement by Mr. Tim Shreeve was sent to the committee by the democratic 
services officer prior to the meeting. 
 
The committee considered that the local interest in this application was a persuasive 
signifier of its importance to residents. In the committee’s view, the proposal would 
represent the loss of a valued community asset and would be inappropriate to the 
local area.  Also, the setting of a residential unit at the centre of public house facilities 
was unsuitable. For these reasons the committee was not minded to grant planning 
permission or permit listed building consent. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried 
on being put to the vote. 
 

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P20/S3379/FUL for the 
following reasons: 
 

1. Loss of a valued community facility. 
2. Affect upon the viability and vitality of the public house. 
3. Harm upon a local heritage asset is not outweighed by the perceived public 

benefit. 
4. The development would be detrimental to future residents. 

 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse listed building consent was declared carried 
on being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to refuse listed building consent for application P21/S2504/LB for the 
following reasons: 
 

1. The proposed works would represent harm to a local heritage asset. 

 
58 P21/S4226/HH - 3 King's Road, Thame  

 
The committee considered application P21/S4226/HH for a single storey extension to 
rear of property and new wall to part of boundary at 3 King's Road, Thame. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.  
 
The planning officer reported that in council officers’ views the proposals was in 
keeping with the local character of the site. The application had received comments 
from neighbours, but no objections. The planning officer also reported that Thame 
Town Council had objected to the application on the basis that the proposed wall on 
the south-eastern elevation would represent overdevelopment and would be contrary 
to Thame Neighbourhood Plan policies. The committee noted the planning officer’s 
advice in paragraph 6.10 of the report, that in taking into account the length of the wall 
proposed being approximately one third of the existing boundary fence, officers did not 
consider that this wall amounted to overdevelopment. The use of bricks to match the 
existing dwelling would further integrate the development into the existing dwelling and 
the site and would improve the visual appearance of the dwelling and the wider area. 
 
The planning officer reported that permitted development rights had not been removed 
from the site, which could permit the enlargement, improvement or alteration of the 
property. It would be possible for the applicant to erect a rear extension of up to 3 
metres high and deep along the concerned boundary, without the need for planning 
permission. This would be considerably shorter in length than proposed wall, however, 
it could be higher than the 2.75 metres proposed. 
 
Councillor Kate Gregory, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
The committee considered that the planning application complied with national 
guidance and local policy and that the proposed development would not be harmful to 
the character and appearance of the site, the surrounding area, or the amenity of 
neighbours. Therefore, planning permission should be granted. 
 

Page 11



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S4226/HH subject to 
the following conditions: 
 

1. Commencement of development within three years. 
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans.  
3. Materials as on plan. 

 
59 P21/S4280/HH - Yew Tree House, The Street, Ewelme  

 
The committee considered planning application P21/S4280/HH for an extension and 
remodelling works at Yew Tree House, the Street, Ewelme. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the 
meeting.  
 
The planning officer reported that this application had been referred to the committee 
as the property was in the ownership of a district councillor. Since the publication of 
the agenda, the Ewelme Parish Council had confirmed that it had no objection to the 
application. The planning officer also reported the site was located in the Ewelme 
Conservation area and the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The 
proposal involved the building of a single storey extension, a recladding of the dwelling 
in vertical natural timber, the installation of a balcony and the erection of a new 
replacement, detached garage. Planning officers considered that the proposed 
balcony was modest and not overlooking neighbouring properties. The proposed 
garage would replace an existing structure and would be larger than the current 
building, but in the planning officer’s view a number of factors would ensure that the 
application would not result in a materially harmful overbearing or oppressive impact 
to any nearby property, namely its distance from adjoining properties, the extension 
being limited to single storey height and the fact that the garage would be located in 
the same position. 
 
The council's tree officer had considered the impact of the development, and in 
particular the replacement garage structure upon adjacent trees. Given the garage 
building would be located in the same position as the existing structure and the 
extension of the house would be at a greater distance from the trees, it was confirmed 
that there would be no objection to the proposals, subject to a condition that required 
the protection of the trees during the construction period. 
 
The committee were of the view that the proposed extension and alterations to the 
house were in keeping with the character of the area and would improve the 
appearance of the building in the context of the conservation area and the AONB. The 
proposed garage was limited in overall height and did not give rise to a significantly 
greater impact on the wider area or on nearby trees than the existing garage. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application 21/S4280/HH subject to the 
following conditions: 

Page 12



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

 
Standard conditions 
 

1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 
2. Approved plans  

 
Pre-commencement conditions 
 

3. Watercourse protection strategy 
4. Tree protection 

 
Prior to occupation conditions 
 

5. Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained 
6. External lighting  

 
Compliance conditions 
 

7. Cladding to be natural in colour 
8. Materials as on plan 
9. No garage conversion into accommodation 

 
 

The meeting closed at 8.15 pm 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S3371/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 27.7.2021 
 PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES 
 WARD MEMBERS Ken Arlett, Kellie Hinton & Stefan Gawrysiak 
 APPLICANT Westbourne Homes 
 SITE Tree Tops House, Gillotts Lane, Henley-on-Thames, 

RG9 1PT 
 PROPOSAL Demolition of house. Construction of five apartments 

with detached car ports and bin/cycle store. 
 OFFICER Marc Pullen 

 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the existing dwelling, 

which has been damaged by fire, and the erection of a new building to accommodate 
five apartments.  The five apartments would be spread across three storeys.   
 

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) lies 
south-west of the main built-up area of Henley-on-Thames, opposite Gillott’s School 
and is accessed off Gillots Lane.  The site lies within the Chilterns AONB and contains 
a number of trees which are protected by tree preservation orders.    
 

1.3 This application is referred to planning committee as Henley-on-Thames Town 
Council do not support the proposed development.   
 

1.4 Reduced copies of the detailed plans accompanying the application are attached as 
Appendix B of this report.  Other documentation associated with the application can 
be viewed on the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council – Objects 

 Recommend refusal on the grounds of overdevelopment caused by the 
proposed increase of development and associated car parking, the removal of 
natural habitat and trees and the site being located outside of the built-up area 
and within the AONB. The site should only come forward for one additional 
dwelling as already approved. 

 
Harpsden Parish Council – Object 

 Harpsden Parish Council objects to this application. We agree fully with the 
points made by The Henley Society in their response. Furthermore, the outline 
application granted in 2020 was for a building with a maximum 2 storeys, 
whereas this proposal has 3 storeys. Flats and a building of this size would be 
completely inappropriate overdevelopment for this location. 

 
County Archaeological Services (SODC) – No objections 

 10/08/2021 – There is potential that the site could contain important historic 
artefacts – as such an archaeological field evaluation is needed prior to 
determination.   

 07/01/2022 – The applicant has now submitted the results of an archaeological 
field evaluation as requested.  The evaluation has demonstrated that the 
development may likely disturb and impact upon recorded deposits containing 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S3371/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

important Palaeolithic material. We would therefore recommend that, should 
planning permission be granted, the applicant should be responsible for 
ensuring the implementation of an archaeological monitoring and recording 
action (watching brief) to be maintained during the period of construction where 
development impacts are to exceed a depth of 1.30m below existing ground 
level. This can be achieved via suitably worded conditions.   

 
Countryside Officer (South and Vale) – No objections 

 This application is supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal (PEA) and an 
arboricultural impact assessment.  

 The proposed development would be focused on already developed areas of 
the site – 14 trees are proposed to be felled on site.  There are no priority 
habitats on site which would be impacted.   

 Trees to be felled have been assessed for their suitability to support roosting 
bats and are not considered likely to support them.  The existing dwelling 
supports roosting bats and will need to be demolished under a derogation 
licence from National England.  I am confident that a licence application would 
be granted, having regard for the scope of mitigation and compensation 
possible on site. 

 The supporting biodiversity metric assessment has concluded that the 
development is likely to achieve a no net loss of biodiversity.  Biodiversity 
enhancements are proposed across the site in the PEA.  Subject to the delivery 
of those enhancements and compensatory tree planting, I am satisfied that the 
proposed development can achieve compliance with the local development 
plan. 

 Conditions are recommended to 1) ensure implementation of the ecological 
mitigation measures set out in PEA and 2) the submission and approval of a 
biodiversity enhancement plan to ensure biodiversity net gain. 

 
Drainage (South and Vale) – No objections 

 I have no objections to planning permission being granted subject to the 
inclusion of a condition being attached to any permission, requiring surface 
water drainage details to be submitted and approved 

 
Forestry Officer (South and Vale) – No objections 

 06/10/2021 – Holding objection the proposed parking provision will lead to 
foreseeable pressure to remove protected trees adjacent to the parking spaces 
located on the western site boundary. Therefore, in its current form the 
proposed development is contrary to South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 
policies ENV1, DES1 & DES2. As well as the South Oxfordshire Design Guide 
and BS 5837, 2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction. 
However, if the parking issue can be suitably resolved, and the contradictory 
plans amended, I would be able to support the application.   

 30/11/2021 - The amended design has addressed my previous concerns. 
Therefore, I have no objections to the proposal subject to a tree protection 
condition being attached.  

 
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objections subject to 
conditions ensuring adequate and safe visibility splays, access and parking on site.   
 
SGN Plant Protection Team -  

 Guidance on gas and electricity  
 
Waste Management Officer (District Council) –  

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

 Guidance on what bins are needed for recycling/refuse  
 
The Henley Society (Planning) -  

 The proposal is incompatible with planning policy.  The whole site lies within the 
Chilterns AONB.  An important aim of the Local Plan is also to minimise the 
impact of development on the AONB.  There are no exceptional circumstances 
to justify such intensive development of the site.   

 It would have a detrimental impact on the adjoining Gillotts Corner Field which is 
a well-used recreational and wildlife conservation area with an essentially rural 
ambience and also in the AONB.  A further objection to this proposal is the 
impact that the additional traffic would have on the narrow and dangerous 
Gillotts Lane. 

 
Energy Assessor (ESE Ltd) – No objection 

 Energy Statement complies with Policy DES10, no objection, subject to 
imposition of compliance condition 

 
Neighbours – Support (2) 

 We strongly believe that the approval of the current proposal will be a positive 
addition to the landscape and the design of this relatively small apartment 
building is far more appropriate than the previous outline approval for a highly 
contemporary glass block 

 This application site is entirely concealed form the wider public views by the 
extensive tree screens on the boundaries and the proposed building will have 
no effect to the wider landscape other than the benefit of removing a derelict 
and dangerous building 

 The new apartments make an attractive addition to the local housing on offer.  

 The design of the apartments are attractive and will fit well into their 
surroundings 

 The whole plot has been neglected and left unattended for too long, and it will 
be a positive step forward for it to return to residential use, with tended gardens 
etc. 

 
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P20/S2833/O - Approved (22/01/2021) 

Outline application with all matters reserved for the demolition of existing dwelling and 
associated outbuildings to allow for a redevelopment comprising the erection of up to 
two detached dwellings with associated access, car parking, landscaping and other 
associated works. (as amended by additional information received 15 December 2020 
reducing the proposed maximum number of units from three to two). 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The site is within a ‘sensitive area’ for the purposes of the EIA regulations 2017 but 

the scale and nature of the proposed development does not require an Environmental 
Statement.   

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 

Page 17

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2833/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

DES10  -  Carbon Reduction 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
EP3  -  Waste collection and Recycling 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H3  -  Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
STRAT5  -  Residential Densities 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan 
 H4  -  Infill and Self-Build Dwellings 

EN1  -  Biodiversity 
DQS1  -  Local Character 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

 
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
  Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

 Human Rights Act 1998 - The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have 
been taken into account in the processing of the application and the preparation 
of this report.  

 Equality Act 2010 - In determining this planning application the Council has 
regard to its equalities obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of 
the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 Principle of development  

 Design and character 

 Access and Parking 

 Impact on trees and ecology  

 Other material planning considerations 

 Other matters  
 

 Principle of development  
 

6.2 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  In the case of 
this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP, 2035) and the Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood 
Plan (HHNP, adopted in 2016). 
 

6.3 Policy H1 (SOLP) allows for housing in the district in accordance with sites allocated 
within the SOLP or allocated by Neighbourhood Development Plans.  Residential 
development on sites in Henley-on-Thames not allocated in the SOLP or 
Neighbourhood Development Plans will be permitted where it is development within the 

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

existing built-up areas of the town.  The residential development of previously 
developed land will be permitted adjacent to the existing built-up areas of Towns.  
Policy H4 (HHNP) allows for infill housing developments and proposals for the 
construction of self-build dwellings within Henley and Harpsden where it can be 
demonstrated that the proposed development constitutes sustainable development.   
 

6.4 It is officer’s view that the site would represent a redevelopment proposal of previously 
developed land.  This stance was taken previously when granting planning permission 
for the demolition of the existing dwelling and the erection of two new dwellings on site 
(ref. P20/S2833/O).  The proposed development would utilise the existing land 
available to deliver a higher density of development in support of Policy STRAT5 and 
DES7 (SOLP).  As such, the principle of development is considered acceptable in 
accordance with Policy H1 (SOLP).   
 

 Design and character 
 

6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) seeks to ensure that all development 
is sympathetic to local character, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting.  Planning decisions should ensure that developments function well 
and add to the overall quality of the area, are visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, layout and include the appropriate and effective use of landscaping.  The 
housing and development policies within the council’s development plan seek to ensure 
that all new developments are of a design and size that is in keeping with the 
surroundings and does not harm the character of the area.  The Council’s Development 
Plan advises that all new development must be designed to reflect the positive features 
that make up the character of the local area and should both physically and visually 
enhance and complement the surroundings.   
 

6.6 The proposed development would result in the demolition of the existing fire damaged 
property on site and the erection of a new detached building which would 
accommodate five flats.  The proposed dwelling would be sited in a similar area of the 
site as the existing dwelling within a large plot which would be in keeping with the 
existing spacious character of the site whilst providing sufficient shared garden space 
for future occupants.  The vehicular access would be similar to the existing and would 
require some widening to accommodate the development.  Details of the new vehicular 
gate would need to be agreed by condition as, in officer’s opinion, any overtly large or 
domestic gate would not appear in keeping with the wooded character and appearance 
of the site and its surroundings.   
 

6.7 The architectural style of properties within the immediate area varies considerably and 
there is no overriding design or form that ought to be adhered to in officer’s view.  The 
design of the proposed building would adopt an arts and craft style dwelling, many of 
which can be observed in Henley-on-Thames.  In this respect, the design of the building 
would make reference to its location.  The design of the dwelling would share similar 
characteristics of the dwelling approved by planning application P21/S3034/FUL.   
 

6.8 The site is well screened and populated with large trees which make an important 
contribution to the landscape character of the site, most notably the trees along the 
boundary.  A small number of trees will need to be removed to accommodate the 
proposed development; however, these trees are not considered to contribute 
significantly to the wider landscape and importantly, they can be replaced on site to 
ensure no net loss in canopy cover.  As such, despite the loss of these trees on site, 
the wooded character of the site would remain.   
 

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

6.9 The visibility of the site within wider views is limited.  Some glimpsed views of the 
existing property can be observed from small parts of the public footpath to the west of 
the site (Harpsden Footpath 10) but from Gillotts Lane and from other roads the site is 
not readily visible.  As you travel further south along the nearby public footpath (towards 
Harpsden) the views of the site become obscured by vegetation and by the change in 
topography.  In officer’s opinion any glimpsed views of the site from this public footpath 
would not be harmful to the appearance of the area as the current dwelling is already 
read in context with the houses around the ‘Gillotts Corner Field’.  The loss of trees on 
site (as above) are not considered to open up the site any further to wider views and 
most importantly can be replaced where needed.    
 

6.10 The NPPF attaches great weight to the conservation and enhancement of the 
landscape and scenic beauty of areas of outstanding natural beauty.  Section 85 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 advises that in exercising or performing any 
functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, 
a relevant authority shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty.  In considering the impact 
upon the Chilterns AONB officers have considered the visibility of the site within the 
wider landscape and the impact upon the character and nature of the site.  As 
discussed above, it is officer’s view that the proposed development would not result in 
any adverse visual impacts upon the local landscape and the wider landscape would 
not be adversely affected.  The woodland character of the site would be maintained 
with the retention of important trees (both within and on the edge of the site) that 
contribute significantly to the landscape character of the area and the wider landscape.  
Any that are sought to be removed will be replaced which would help to offset any harm 
caused.  
 

6.11 The proposed development would increase activity on the site and would result in the 
increase in glazing on site.  Officers deem it necessary in this instance that a suitably 
worded condition is attached to the grant of permission which requires the glazing to be 
coated to prevent any adverse levels of illumination and light spill.  In light of this 
condition, officers do not consider the proposed development would result in any 
adverse levels of light spill on the wider landscape.  The increase in activity coming and 
going from the site is not considered to result in any adverse harm to the character of 
the area.  This is because Gillotts Lane is an already well used road and activity 
associated with the proposed development would consistent with the existing activity 
associated with nearby residential uses and the school.   
 

 Access and Parking 
 

6.12 Oxfordshire County Council, as local highway authority, have been consulted on this 
application.  Oxfordshire County Council do not object to the proposed development.  
The proposed development would not result in any significant increase in vehicle 
movements to the extent of being harmful to the local highway network.   
 

6.13 The proposed development will result in improvements to the existing vehicular access 
and would achieve adequate visibility splays along Gillotts Lane.  The parking and 
manoeuvring areas on site, as well as the proposed passing space along the access, 
are considered acceptable and should be maintained as such.  Conditions should be 
attached to any grant of planning permission to ensure the proposed parking is 
provided, the access is safe and achieves the necessary visibility splays and that the 
new vehicular access gate is set far enough off Gillotts Lane to avoid any cars waiting 
on the highway.    
 
 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

 Impact on trees and ecology  
 

6.14 Ecology: 
This application is supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal (PEA) and an 
arboricultural impact assessment.  In the view of the council’s countryside officer, the 
proposed development is very unlikely to impact any nearby designated sites, due to 
the location and scale of the development.  The proposed development would be 
focused on already developed areas of the site and would utilise existing access 
infrastructure.  There are no priority habitats on site which would be impacted.  Trees 
that would be felled are not considered likely to support any roosting bats.   
 

6.15 The existing dwelling supports roosting bats and will need to be demolished under a 
derogation licence from Natural England.  The council’s countryside officer is confident 
that such a licence application would be granted, having regard for the scope of 
mitigation and compensation possible on the site.  Impacts on other species, such as 
reptiles and birds, can be adequately addressed through sensitive working methods.   
 

6.16 The supporting biodiversity metric assessment has concluded that the development is 
likely to achieve a no net loss of biodiversity.  Biodiversity enhancements are proposed 
across the site in the PEA.  Subject to the delivery of those enhancements and 
compensatory tree planting, the council is satisfied that the proposed development can 
achieve compliance with the local development plan.   
 

6.17 The council’s countryside officer is satisfied that the proposed development would not 
result in any harm to protected species and subject to conditions the proposed 
development would deliver a net gain of biodiversity on the site.   
 

6.18 Trees: 
The proposed development will require the loss of a small number of protected trees, 
some to facilitate demolition of the existing derelict house and others to accommodate 
the new buildings.  The loss of these trees is not likely to have a wider landscape 
impact and there would be opportunity to secure replacement planting to achieve a net 
gain in canopy cover.  The driveway is shown to be widened in places, but the majority 
is within the footprint of the existing compacted gravel surfacing.  Subject to the new 
driveway being constructed on top of the existing ground level using a suitable no dig 
cellular confinement system the remaining woodland trees could be retained unharmed. 
 

6.19 As initially submitted, the proposed parking arrangement was not considered suitable 
on arboricultural grounds as the parking of cars under the canopy of trees would have 
led to foreseeable pressure (needles, cones, deadline and sap) for their removal in due 
course.  As such, a new car port structure has been introduced with will limit the 
nuisance experienced.   
 

6.20 Subject to conditions ensuring the agreement of detailed tree protection measures and 
a landscaping scheme, the council’s forestry officer does not object to the proposed 
development.   
 

 Other material planning considerations 
 

6.21 Archaeology:  
The submitted archaeological field evaluation has revealed significant evidence for 
Palaeolithic remains to be present on the site.  The evaluation has demonstrated that 
where development impacts, either from demolition or construction, are to exceed 
depths of 1.30m, these are likely to disturb and impact upon recorded deposits 
containing important Palaeolithic material.  As such, it is recommended that, should 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

planning permission be granted, the applicant should be responsible for ensuring the 
implementation of an archaeological monitoring and recording action to be maintained 
during the period of construction of the development.  This can be ensured through the 
attachment of suitably worded conditions.   
 

6.22 Waste/recycling: 
In consultation with the council’s own waste team, it is considered that the site would be 
sufficiently large enough to provide the necessary waste/recycling storage on site.  The 
bin store would be sited approx. 20 metres from the highway which would be within the 
limits set out by the waste team (25 metres).   
 

6.23 Carbon reduction:  
Policy DES10 (SOLP) advises that planning permission will only be granted for new 
dwellings where the development achieves at least a 40% reduction in carbon 
emissions compared with a code 2013 Building Regulations compliant base case.  The 
submitted Energy Statement demonstrates compliance to this policy and the council’s 
appointed energy assessor confirms this.   
 

 Other matters 
 

6.24 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): 
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to all relevant proposals.  CIL is a planning 
charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support 
the development of their area and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development or net gain of residential use on site.  This 
development would be liable to pay CIL since the development would result in the 
provision of new dwellings.    
 

6.25 Pre-commencement conditions:  
In accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) 
Regulations 2018, Section 100ZA (6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990(a) 
the Council is required to confirm agreement to all pre-commencement conditions.  
These will all have been agreed by the applicant/agent in writing in accordance with the 
requirements of this legislation.   

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 It is recommended that planning permission is granted for the proposed development.  

The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and the 
development is not considered to result in any material harm to the character or 
appearance of the site or the surrounding area. The development would not result in 
any harm to important and protected landscape features, would protect against any 
harm to protected ecology, would ensure appropriate recording of archaeological 
remains and would not result in any harm to the safety of the highway network. As 
such, the development is considered to adhere to the relevant policies set out within 
this report.   

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:  

 
 1 : Development to commence within three years 

2 : Development to be in accordance with the plans hereby approved 
3 : Development to be built with materials as submitted  
4 : All external glazing to be coated to prevent illumination and light spill  
5 : An organised archaeological watching brief should be maintained on site   
     during construction 

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 2 March 2022 

 

  

6 : Findings of watching brief to be submitted for approval 
7 : Development shall be implemented in accordance with all of the ecological  
     mitigation measures stated in supporting Preliminary Ecological Appraisal  
8 : A biodiversity enhancement plan (BEP) shall be submitted to and approved in  
     writing by the local planning authority 
9 : Details of surface water drainage works to be submitted for approval 
10 : An Arboricultural Method Statement and accompanying Tree Protection Plan  
       shall  be submitted for approval 
11 : Details of landscaping of the site to be submitted for approval 
12 : Existing vehicular access to be improved in accordance with highway  
       standards prior to occupation 
13 : Vision splay dimensions measuring 2.4 metres by 43 metres to be put in  
       place prior to occupation 
14 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas provided as approved and thereafter retained 
15 : Details of cycle parking to be submitted for approval 
16 : No surface water from the development shall be discharged onto the  
       adjoining highway 
17 : Any gates provided shall be set back a minimum of 5.0 metres from the edge 
       of the carriageway and shall open inwards into the site. 
18 : Details of new gate to be submitted for approval 
19 : Energy Statement Verification – verification report to demonstrate energy  
       efficiency measures have been implemented  
20 : Each dwelling to be provided with an Electric Vehicle Charging Point  

 

 

Author:  Marc Pullen 

Tel:        01235 422600 

Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 25

Agenda Item 8P21/S3371/FUL



Page 26



0 10 25 50 m 75 100

Scale 1:1250

GG

2

BIRCH LAWN

G R E Y' S  R O A D

CRATAEGUS

G  I  L  L  O  T  T  '  S    L  A  N  E
OLD PADDOCKTAKHAR

HOUSE
Tr

ac
k

HENLEY LEISURE CENTRE

RESTROP

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2021. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

THE SITE

NORTH

WESTBOURNE HOMES

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

DetailDateRev.Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn
Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd,
Berkshire House

 39-51 High Street,
 Ascot,

 Berkshire,
 SL5 7HY

Tel: 01344 299330
 Fax: 01344 299331

Email: info@ascotdesign .com
www.ascotdesign.com

LOCATION PLAN

1:1250 @ A3 JUL '21 S.T.

21-J3641-LP01

TREE TOPS HOUSE, GILLOTS LANE,
HENLEY-ON-THAMES, RG9 1PT

Appendix B

Page 27

www.Ascotdesign.com


G  I  L  L  O  T  T  '  S    L  A  N  E

EXISTING BUILDING
SHOWN DASHED RED

PROPOSED APARTMENT
BLOCK

CARPORT
(5 SPACES)

BIN
&

CYCLE

V

V

EXISTING TENNIS
COURT TO BE
REMOVED

2.4M
 x 43M

 VISIBILITY SPLAY

2.4M
 x 43M

 VISIBILITY SPLAY

EXISTING ENTRANCE TO BE
RETAINED & ENHANCED WITH
NEW GATES AND WOODEN
POST & RAIL FENCING

PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN
& REFUSE ACCESS

EXISTING PLANTING TO BE
RETAINED AND ENHANCED
WHERE NECESSARY

EXISTING
OUTBUILDING
RETAINED

CARPORT
(5 SPACES)

KEY

EXISTING TREES TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING PLANTING

TREES TO BE REMOVED

00.00 PROPOSED SPOT SITE LEVELS

PROPOSED HOUSE FINISHED FLOOR  LEVELS (SUBJECT
TO CONFIRMATION AT WORKING DRAWINGS STAGE)

PROPOSED INDICATIVE PLANTING

00.00 EXISTING SPOT SITE LEVELS

PROPOSED TREES

 FFL 00.00

DASH-DOT RED LINE INDICATES BUILDING
TO BE DEMOLISHED

BANK

A ASECTIONLINE

DASH-DOT TEAL LINE INDICATES EXISTING
DRIVEWAY TO BE REMOVED

DASHED BLUE LINE INDICATES
2.4M X 43M VISIBILTY SPLAY

NORTH

5 m0 1 2 3 4 10 15 20

Scale 1:200

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

SITE PLAN

1:200 @ A1 JUL '21 S.T.

21 - J3641 - 001

PLANNING

WESTBOURNE HOMES

TREE TOPS HOUSE, GILLOTS LANE,
HENLEY-ON-THAMES, RG9 1PT

A OCT '21 PARKING & PATHWAYS UPDATED

A

Page 28



G  I  L  L  O  T  T  '  S    L  A  N  E

OUTLINE CONSENT
SHOWN DASHED GREEN

PROPOSED BUILDING TO
BE SUBMITTED UNDER

SEPARATE APPLICATION
OUTLINE
CONSENT
PLOT 1
SHOWN
DASHED
GREEN

0 5 10 15 20 m 30 40 50

Scale 1:500

NORTH

KEY

EXISTING TREES TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING PLANTING

00.00 PROPOSED SPOT SITE LEVELS

PROPOSED HOUSE FINISHED FLOOR  LEVELS (SUBJECT
TO CONFIRMATION AT WORKING DRAWINGS STAGE)

PROPOSED INDICATIVE PLANTING

00.00 EXISTING SPOT SITE LEVELS

PROPOSED TREES

 FFL 00.00

DASH-DOT RED LINE INDICATES BUILDING
TO BE DEMOLISHED

BANK

A ASECTIONLINE

DASH-DOT TEAL LINE INDICATES EXISTING
DRIVEWAY TO BE REMOVED

DASHED BLUE LINE INDICATES
2.4M X 43M VISIBILTY SPLAY

WESTBOURNE HOMES

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

TREE TOPS HOUSE, GILLOT'S LANE,
HENLEY-ON-THAMES, RG9 1PT

DetailDateRev.
Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn
Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd,
Berkshire House

 39-51 High Street,
 Ascot,

 Berkshire,
 SL5 7HY

Tel: 01344 299330
 Fax: 01344 299331

Email: info@ascotdesign .com
www.ascotdesign.com

CONTEXT PLAN

1:500 @ A3 JUL '21

21 - J3641 - 002

S.T.

A PARKING & PATHWAYS UPDATEDOCT '21

A
Page 29

www.Ascotdesign.com


FRONT ELEVATION (NORTH) SIDE ELEVATION (WEST)

SIDE ELEVATION (EAST)REAR ELEVATION (SOUTH)

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

.ascotdesign.com

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

1:100 @ A1 JUL '21 S.T.

21 - J3641 - 004

PLANNING

WESTBOURNE HOMES

TREE TOPS HOUSE, GILLOTS LANE,
HENLEY-ON-THAMES, RG9 1PT

P
age 30



58
75

 [1
9'

-3
"]

5055 [16'-7"]

10230 [33'-7"]

4160 [13'-8"]

50
05

 [1
6'

-5
"]

37
60

 [1
2'

-4
"]

4320 [14'-2"]

4570 [15']

37
80

 [1
2'

-5
"]

37
70

 [1
2'

-5
"]

5025 [16'-6"]

9695 [31'-10"]

47
75

 [1
5'

-8
"]

47
75

 [1
5'

-8
"]

5055 [16'-7"]

58
75

 [1
9'

-3
"]

MASTER
BEDROOM

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
G.E.A. - 407 m² / 4377 ft²

DINING

DRAWING ROOM

DINING

DRAWING ROOM

BEDROOM
2

BEDROOM
2

MASTER
BEDROOM

SH

SH

SH

ENS.

ENS.
DRESSING

DRESSING

HALL HALL

W.C.
W.C.

UT.
CB'D

DRESS

CB'D
LIFT

HALL

HALL

ENTRANCE
HALL

UP

EN-SUITE

UT.
CB'D

CB'D

KITCHEN KITCHEN

SHEN-SUITE

PORCH

5055 [16'-7"]

58
75

 [1
9'

-3
"]

10230 [33'-7"]

4160 [13'-8"]

50
05

 [1
6'

-5
"]

37
60

 [1
2'

-4
"]

4320 [14'-2"]

4570 [15']

9695 [31'-10"]

47
75

 [1
5'

-8
"]

47
75

 [1
5'

-8
"]

5055 [16'-7"]

58
75

 [1
9'

-3
"]

DINING

DRAWING ROOM

DINING

DRAWING ROOM

BEDROOM
2

EN-SUITE

MASTER
BEDROOM

ENS.

UP

DN

SH

SH

DRESSING

HALL HALL

W.C.

DRESS

CB'D
LIFTHALL

LANDING

MASTER
BEDROOM

UT.
CB'D

37
80

 [1
2'

-5
"]

37
70

 [1
2'

-5
"]

5025 [16'-6"]

BEDROOM
2

SH

ENS.
DRESSING

W.C.

UT.
CB'D

HALL

CB'D

EN-SUITE

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
G.E.A. - 400 m² / 4312 ft²

BALCONY

BALCONY

BALCONY

SH

KITCHEN KITCHEN

SECOND FLOOR PLAN

TERRACE

LIFT

DN

SH

MASTER
BEDROOM

DINING

DRAWING
ROOM

SH

UTILITY

KITCHEN

PANTRY

LANDING

HALL

ENS.

BEDROOM 3 /
STUDY

BEDROOM 2

DRESSING

ENS.

SH

STUDY
AREA

ENS.

CB'D

BALCONY

5810 [19'-1"]

39
20

 [1
2'

-1
0"

]

5470 [18']

1.8M
 W

ALL1.
8M

 W
AL

L1.8M
 W

ALL1.
8M

 W
AL

L

60
20

 [1
9'

-9
"]

42
60

 [1
4'

]

3015 [9'-11"]

35
15

 [1
1'

-6
"]

4795 [15'-9"]

G.E.A. - 265 m² / 2855 ft²

DRESSING

1.8M
 W

ALL1.
8M

 W
AL

L

HIDDEN
DOOR

1.8M
 W

ALL

1.8M WALL

1.8M WALL

69
60

 [2
2'

-1
0"

]

6295 [20'-8"]

1.8M
 W

ALL

1.5M WALL

1.
5M

 W
AL

L

1.
8M

 W
AL

L

1.
5M

 W
AL

L

1.5M WALL

1.5M WALL1.8M WALL

W.C.

ENTRANCE
HALL

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

1:100 @ A1 JUL '21 S.T.

21 - J3641 - 005

PLANNING

WESTBOURNE HOMES

TREE TOPS HOUSE, GILLOTS LANE,
HENLEY-ON-THAMES, RG9 1PT

P
age 31



20 1 3 4 m 6 8 10

Scale 1:100

FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION REAR ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION

FLOOR PLAN

5000 [16'-5"]

50
00

 [1
6'

-5
"]

2500 [8'-3"] 5000 [16'-5"]

FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION REAR ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION

CYCLE STORE
10 SPACES

RECYCLING

FOOD
WASTE

REFUSE

BIN
STORE

FLOOR PLAN

RECYCLING

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

1:100 @ A2 JUL '21 S.T.

21-J3641-006

PLANNING
WESTBOURNE HOMES

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

TREE TOPS HOUSE, GILLOT'S LANE,
HENLEY-ON-THAMES, RG9 1PT

PROPOSED BIN AND CYCLE STORE
& CAR PORT

A

A AUG '21 BIN & CYCLE STORE INTERNALS AMENDED

P
age 32



G  I  L  L  O  T  T  '  S    L  A  N  E

CARPORT
(5 SPACES)

BIN
&

CYCLE

V

V
SUPPORTING
TIMBER
POSTS
SHOWN IN
YELLOW

CARPORT
(5 SPACES)

KEY

EXISTING TREES TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING PLANTING

TREES TO BE REMOVED

00.00 PROPOSED SPOT SITE LEVELS

PROPOSED HOUSE FINISHED FLOOR  LEVELS (SUBJECT
TO CONFIRMATION AT WORKING DRAWINGS STAGE)

PROPOSED INDICATIVE PLANTING

00.00 EXISTING SPOT SITE LEVELS

PROPOSED TREES

 FFL 00.00

DASH-DOT RED LINE INDICATES BUILDING
TO BE DEMOLISHED

BANK

A ASECTIONLINE

DASH-DOT TEAL LINE INDICATES EXISTING
DRIVEWAY TO BE REMOVED

DASHED BLUE LINE INDICATES
2.4M X 43M VISIBILTY SPLAY

NORTH

5 m0 1 2 3 4 10 15 20

Scale 1:200

BREEDON GRAVEL

PERMEABLE BLOCK PAVING OR STONE
SLABS OF CELLWEB

HERRINGBONE PATH

WOODLAND PATH (BARK
MULCH WITH TIMBER EDGING)

1.8M CHAIN LINK FENCE

1.2M SUSSEX POST AND RAIL

1.8M CLOSEBOARD FENCE

KEY

TARMACADAM

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

HARD SURFACING & BOUNDARY
TREATMENTS PLAN

1:200 @ A1 JUL '21 S.T.

21 - J3641 - 003

PLANNING

WESTBOURNE HOMES

TREE TOPS HOUSE, GILLOTS LANE,
HENLEY-ON-THAMES, RG9 1PT

PARKING & PATHWAYS UPDATEDOCT '21A

A

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S4250/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 5.10.2021 
 PARISH DIDCOT 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Celia Wilson 

Axel Macdonald 
Mocky Khan 

 APPLICANT Mr David Granat 
 SITE 25 Glebe Road, Didcot, OX11 8PL 
 PROPOSAL Change of use to 7 bedroom House in Multiple 

Occupation (Sui Generis). (As amended by plans 
received on the 20th of December 2021 and the 
18th of February 2022) 

 OFFICER Nathaniel Bamsey 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee because Didcot Town Council 

object to the development and the officer recommendation is for approval. 
 

1.2 The application site is 25 Glebe Road, a semi-detached dwelling in the town of Didcot. 
A location plan of the site is attached as Appendix 1. Neighbouring dwellings are to 
the north and south. Vehicular access is gained via Glebe Road to the west. 
 

1.3 This application seeks approval for a change of use of the dwelling to a 7-bedroom 
house in multiple occupation (HMO), a ‘sui generis’ use.  
 

1.4 This application follows an approval for extensions to the dwelling (P21/S2218/HH) 
(which have been implemented), and the granting of a certificate of lawful 
development which confirms that it would be lawful for the dwelling to be used as a 
small HMO, a C4 use. The proposed plans submitted with the application are attached 
as Appendix 2.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Didcot Town Council  

 
Objection  
 

‘The Committee were concerned with the lack of adequate parking on the 
narrow road, which already has severe parking issues.’ 

 
South -Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council)  
 
First consultation  
 
Objection  
 

‘On behalf of Oxfordshire County Council, as Local Highway Authority, I 
recommend the application for planning permission is refused for the reasons 
set-out below. 
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S4250/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

Grounds for Refusal 
The proposal seeks the change of use to a seven-bedroom House in Multiple 
Occupation, it is noted that the proposal is subject already to an application to 
change the use of the dwelling into a six-bedroom House in Multiple 
Occupation. 
 
The proposal has demonstrated a parking plan; however, no information has 
been supplied in relation to the access and egress manoeuvring in terms of 
vehicular swept path analysis as to ensure these parking spaces are practical 
for use. 
 
The distance of the parking space fronting the proposed ‘cycle store’ measured 
4.6m which does not allow for a vehicle to egress the space. This is likely to 
result in vehicles parking indiscriminately and or obstructively within the vicinity 
which can only increase the risk to Highway Safety and to other users of the 
Highway within the vicinity.’ 
 

Second consultation  
 
No objection, subject to condition  
 

‘The proposal seeks the change of use to a 7-bedroom House in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO).  
 
As previously mentioned, the site has permission for a 6-bed HMO under 
application no. P21/S3107/LDP.  
 
The parking layout has been altered to a more practical arrangement, it is 
recommended that the existing dropped kerb is extended to further improve 
access and egress.  
 
In addition, the boundary treatment to the left-hand side on egress is 
recommended to be reduced to a height of 0.6m and for this to be maintained.  
 
The site benefits from a high level of accessibility with many typical town centre 
amenities, shops, services, employment opportunities and public transport links 
within walking distance.  
 
Furthermore, cycle parking has been provided, this has been recommended by 
a planning condition.’ 

 
Env. Protection Team  
 

‘A large HMO such as is proposed does have the potential for significant 
impacts in terms of noise if poorly managed. However, there is nothing in the 
application which leads me to the conclusion that this is the case with this 
application.  
 
I therefore have no objection to the proposed development.’ 

 
Waste Management Officer (District Council)  

 
‘No objections to current plans from waste team for this change of use.’ 
 

 

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

Private Sector Housing Team  
 

‘The Private Sector Housing (PSH) Team are responsible for licensing Houses 
in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). Most HMOs occupied by five or more people 
living in more than one household will require a HMO licence from the council 
and will be required to meet higher safety, facilities and amenity standards in 
order to comply with the conditions of the licence. More information is available 
from the PSH Team.  
 
The proposal is to create a 7 bedroom HMO. If the property is to be occupied by 
five or more people living in more than one household it will require a HMO 
licence from the council and a completed application for a HMO licence must be 
received before five people occupy the property. Operating a licensable HMO 
without a licence is an offence.  
 
It should be noted that there is potential for the proposed 7 bedroom HMO to be 
occupied by up to 14 people. Any bedrooms with a floor area of 10.22 square 
meters or more could be occupied by two adults - provided there are sufficient 
amenities and facilities within the property (e.g. cooking and personal washing 
facilities). If the bedrooms were found to be large enough and there were 
sufficient amenities and facilities within the property then a HMO licence for up 
to 14 people could be issued. 
 
HMO licensing is only concerned with assessing the safety and suitability of a 
property for the proposed number of tenants, and cannot make provisions for 
broader environmental impacts a HMO may have on neighbouring properties 
and a neighbourhood (e.g. parking).’ 

 
Neighbours  
 
Objection (7) 
 

 Lack of parking 

 Obstruction to emergency vehicles 

 Noise 

 Loss of safety 

 Impact on local sewer system 

 Out of character 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P21/S3107/LDP - Approved (24/09/2021) 

Conversion of a residential dwelling (use-class C3) to a small 6-bed House in Multiple 
Occupation (use-class C4). 
 
P21/S2218/HH - Approved (05/07/2021) 
Erection of two-storey side extension and single storey rear extension. 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, 
so an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required.  
 
 

 

Page 37

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S3107/LDP
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2218/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development      
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character    
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space    
DES6  -  Residential Amenity    
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources    
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity    
EP3  -  Waste collection and Recycling    
H17  -  Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple Occupation   
TRANS2  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility    
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 
Didcot does not have a made neighbourhood plan. 

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 

 Human Rights Act 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Control and Definition of HMOs  

 
The council have two forms of control for houses in multiple occupation (HMO); 

1. There is the use of the building covered by planning legislation; and 
2. Licensing from our private sector housing team 

 
1. Planning Use - An HMO is defined as a property rented out by at least 3 people who 
are not from 1 “household” (for example a family) but share facilities like a bathroom 
and a kitchen. HMOs are essentially house shares. Planning permission is not required 
for a change of use from a dwelling (C3) to a small HMO (up to 6 occupants) (C4) as 
this level of use is deemed to be similar to that of any family. Such a change of use is 
permitted development. Planning permission is required to the change of use of a 
dwelling or small HMO to a large HMO because large HMOs are “sui generis” i.e they 
are unique uses that do not fall within any other use class category. 
 

Page 38



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

2. Licensing from our private sector housing team - A licence from the council 
(under the terms of the Housing Act 2004) is required for HMOs of more than 3 people. 
There are small HMOs and large HMO’s A property is deemed to be a large HMO if all 
of the following apply: 

 it is rented to 5 or more people who form more than 1 household 

 some or all tenants share toilet, bathroom or kitchen facilities 

 at least 1 tenant pays rent (or their employer pays it for them). 
 

6.2 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 
 

 Principle of the development 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity 

 Access and parking 

 Other material planning considerations 
 

6.3 Principle of the development 
 
Policy H17 states that the conversion of a dwelling to an HMO will be permitted 
provided the development would not harm the amenity of the occupants of nearby 
properties, and it is appropriate in terms of the size of the property and the proposed 
internal layout, access, private amenity space and car parking provision. These factors 
will be assessed elsewhere in this report but subject to them being acceptable, officers 
consider the principle of the change of use is acceptable.  
 

6.4 Design and character 
 
Policy  
 
Policy DES1 requires new development to be of high-quality design. The policy gives a 
wide range of measures against which development will be assessed, including efficient 
use of land, net gains and no net loss of biodiversity, sustainability and respect for local 
character and context. This respect for local character is echoed by policy DES2 which 
requires new development to be designed to reflect the positive features that make up 
the character of the local area and it should both physically and visually enhance and 
complement the surroundings.  
 
Discussion  
 
The extensions have been implemented so the consideration of this application rests 
on the impact of the change of use. 
 
The greatest visual impact from the proposed development is the new car parking to 
the front of the dwelling and the addition of cycle and bin storage as the external 
appearance of the building would remain as a semi-detached single dwelling.  
 
Three car parking spaces are shown to the front of the dwelling. Many properties in the 
vicinity have laid hardstanding on their frontages, so this is not out of keeping with the 
local area. Three spaces are not an excessive number for a semi-detached dwelling, so 
this level of parking is also not out of keeping with the local area.  
 
Cycle parking and bin storage will be required for the additional number of residents. 
Conditions are recommended requiring the submission of these details. Officers 

Page 39



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

consider that these details can be satisfactorily agreed to prevent harm to the 
appearance of the site and the character of the area. 
 
The dwelling could be licensed for use by up to 13 people. This is a significant increase 
from the C4 use (houses in multiple occupation) that could lawfully be implemented of 
up to six unrelated individuals and from the likely number of residents if it remained as a 
single household (C3). This increased number of residents will increase the level of 
activity generated by the building with greater comings and goings. However, officers 
consider that the level of activity generated would not be so great as to cause harm to 
the character of the area given the location in a large town and the relatively dense 
level of housing in the area. 
 
Subject to the recommended conditions, officers consider that the proposed 
development would not harm visual amenity as the external appearance would remain 
as a semi-detached dwelling, the new cycle and bin storage can be suitably controlled, 
and the level of activity generated would not be harmful. Therefore, the application 
complies with policies DES1 & 2.  
 

6.5 Residential amenity 
 
Policy 
 
Policy DES5 requires that a private outdoor garden or outdoor amenity space, or 
alternatively a shared outdoor amenity area should be provided for all new dwellings. 
The amount of land that should be provided for the garden or amenity space will be 
determined by the size of the dwelling proposed and by the character of surrounding 
development. This amenity area should not be overlooked or significantly shaded by 
buildings and trees.  
 
Policy DES6 requires development proposals to demonstrate that they will not 
significantly impact the amenity of neighbouring uses in relation to loss of privacy, 
daylight or sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, noise or vibration, smell, dust, heat, 
odour, gases or other emissions, pollution, contamination or the use of / or storage of 
hazardous substances and external lighting. 
 
Discussion  
 
When assessing this application, it is necessary to assess the impact on neighbouring 
properties and the intended residents of the HMO. 
 
Impact on neighbouring properties 
 
The increased activity generated by the additional residents has the potential to harm 
neighbours through noise and disturbance. The council’s environmental protection 
officer was consulted on this application, and they raise no objections in terms of noise. 
The increased number of comings and goings are not considered to result in increased 
disturbance that would be significantly harmful to neighbour amenity. 
 
The cycle and bin storage will be placed within the property frontage and their small 
scale will prevent harm from overshadowing, overdominance and visual intrusion.   
 
Impact on intended residents 
 
The response from the council’s private sector housing team states that under the HMO 
licence regime, a bedroom of over 10.22m2 may be occupied by two people. All but one 

Page 40



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

of the bedrooms meets this minimum floor area. It would not be reasonable to impose 
standards on the internal layout that exceed those required by the licensing regime and 
in the absence of an objection from the private sector housing team it is held that the 
internal layout would provide a sufficient level of amenity for future residents.  
 
The property benefits from a large rear garden of approximately 400m2 so the residents 
will have sufficient outdoor communal amenity space.  
 
As neighbouring properties will not be harmed by the development and future occupiers 
will enjoy a sufficient level of amenity it is held that the development accords with 
policies DES5 & 6 and criteria i & ii of policy H17.    
 

6.6 Access and parking 
 
Policy 
 
Policy TRANS5 requires development proposals to provide for a safe and convenient 
access for all users to the highway network, provide cycle parking where relevant, be 
served by an adequate road network which can accommodate traffic without creating 
traffic hazards or damage to the environment, be designed to enable charging of plug-
in and other lower emission vehicles, provide for loading, unloading, circulation and 
turning space and provide for the parking of vehicles in accordance with Oxfordshire 
County Council (OCC) parking standards, unless specific evidence is provided to justify 
otherwise. 
 
Discussion  
 
Local residents and the town council have raised concerns about the impact of the 
development on the local highway network and in terms of parking.  
 
The application is submitted with a parking plan showing three spaces to the front of 
the dwelling. Amendments to this layout have been received in response to concerns 
from OCC about the practicality of accessing these spaces. Following the submission of 
these amendments, OCC have no objection to the development. 
 
In the absence of an objection from OCC as highways authority, officers consider that a 
refusal on highway safety or parking grounds would not be reasonable or justified. The 
site is in a highly sustainable location close to amenities and public transport so the 
level of parking provided would be acceptable in this instance.  
 
The provision of cycle parking will encourage more sustainable modes of transport and 
a condition is recommended requiring details of this storage to ensure it accords with 
OCC standards. 
 
The highways liaison officer has requested a condition requiring vision splays to be 
provided and for the spaces to be laid out and retained. A site visit has shown that the 
hedge that was previously on the boundary has already been removed so this condition 
is not necessary as adequate vision splays are already present. The property frontage 
has also already been laid to gravel/hardstanding but the condition requiring the 
retention of these spaces is still necessary and reasonable to ensure the provision 
remains long term.  
 
Subject to the recommended conditions and in the absence of an objection from OCC 
officers consider that the development will not harm highway safety nor the local 
highway network, an acceptable level of parking would be provided, and sustainable 

Page 41



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

modes of transport would be encouraged, in accordance with policy TRANS5. As 
sufficient and safe access and parking will be provided the application is also 
considered to accord with criterion ii of policy H17. 
 

6.7 Other material planning considerations 
 
Sustainability  
 
Policy  
 
DES7 requires development proposals to make provision for the effective use and 
protection of natural resources where applicable. This includes the efficient use of land, 
minimising waste, maximising passive solar heating, lighting, natural ventilation, energy 
and water efficiency and the re-use of materials.  
 
Policy DES8 requires all development proposals to demonstrate that they are seeking 
to limit greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, landscape 
and planting taking into account any nationally adopted standards. Development should 
also be designed to improve resilience to the anticipated effects of climate change and 
be built to last. 
 
Discussion  
 
The only works to the dwelling required for the change of use are internal so it would 
not be reasonable to require additional information as to their sustainability. Policy 
DES10 requires new-build HMOs to achieve a 40% reduction in CO2 emissions but as 
this is a conversion this does not apply. 
 
Waste and recycling 
 
Policy  
 
Policy EP3 requires development proposals for residential use to ensure adequate 
facilities are provided for the sorting, storage and collection of waste and recycling. 
 
Discussion  
 
The recommended condition requiring details of the refuse and recycling storage will 
ensure that adequate provision is secured. The council’s waste management officer 
does not object to the development. Therefore, subject to the recommended condition, 
the application complies with policy EP3.  
 
Biodiversity  
 
Policy  
 
Policy ENV3 supports development that will conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity 
in the district. All development should provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible. 
As a minimum, there should be no net loss of biodiversity.  
 
Discussion  
 
The impact on biodiversity from the proposed change of use is likely to be limited but to 
ensure there is a net gain in biodiversity a condition is recommended requiring the 
provision of a bird box on the property.  

Page 42



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

 
With this condition attached it is held that there will be a gain in biodiversity and the 
application complies with policy ENV3.  
 
Sewerage capacity 
 
Policy  
 
Policy INF4 requires development proposals to demonstrate that there is or will be 
adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and sewerage treatment capacity 
to serve the whole development.  
 
Discussion  
 
Local residents have raised concerns that the additional en-suite bathrooms will exceed 
the capacity of the local sewerage infrastructure. However, as these works are internal, 
they could be carried out without planning permission at any time so it would not be 
reasonable to refuse the application on this basis. Moreover, the development would 
have to comply with building regulations which controls foul drainage. Therefore, 
officers consider that there will be adequate sewerage capacity to accommodate the 
development and the application complies with policy INF4 
 
Conditions  
 
Consideration has been given to controlling the numbers of residents by the imposition 
of a planning condition. However, as this is controlled under the licensing scheme it is 
not considered that this condition would be necessary nor reasonable and strict limits 
on residents may also be difficult to enforce. As this condition would be unlikely to meet 
the six tests for conditions no such condition has been recommended.  

  
6.8 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
The development is not CIL liable. 

  
6.9 Pre-commencement conditions 

 
No pre-commencement conditions are recommended so the agreement of the 
applicant/agent is not required.  

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The principle of the development is acceptable and subject to the recommended 

conditions, officers consider that the development would not harm visual amenity, 
neighbours nor highway safety and the application complies with the relevant policies of 
the adopted development plan and the NPPF.  

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions 

 
 1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission    

2 : Approved plans     
3 : Refuse & Recycling Storage (Details required)    
4 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained     
5 : Cycle Parking Facilities   
6 : Bird Box  
7 : HMO Licence Informative 

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

8 : INF17 - Works within the Highway 
 
 
Author:         Nathaniel Bamsey  
Contact No: 01235 422600  
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________   

Delegated Authority Sign-Off Officer  

 

Page 44



Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all
dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by
the Contractor before work commences. If any discrepancies are
found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for amendments. All work
to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current British
Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building
Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected
areas during & after the building work. Where new loads are
imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for
adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural
Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict,
Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by Ktech is
a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or
future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in
part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:1250, 500@A3

Conversion to HMO -
Site location & block plans

-

06/05/2021

21-12_PL01_7

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

25 Glebe Road,
Didcot, OX11 8PL

For Planning Permission

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

EXISTING PROPOSED

Appendix 1

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 9
P

21/S
4250/FU

L



N

Bike store

Bi
n s

Parking

Existing
crossover

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all
dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by
the Contractor before work commences. If any discrepancies are
found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for amendments. All work
to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current British
Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building
Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected
areas during & after the building work. Where new loads are
imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for
adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural
Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict,
Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by Ktech is
a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or
future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in
part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:1250, 500@A3

Single storey rear & double storey
side extensions -
Site location & block plans

B

06/05/2021

21-12_PL01

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

25 Glebe Road,
Didcot, OX11 8PL

For Planning Permission

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

EXISTING PROPOSED

Appendix 2

P
age 46



P
age 47



Escape window

Escape window

700
drawers 80

0

wardrobe

800
wardrobe

65
0

dr
aw

er
s

dressing

900

wardrobe

800

(1.97sqm)
686

762 FD
11.7sqm
Bed03

F/F

1800

F/F

FD
10.1sqm
Bed02

686
(1.83sqm)

686

800

800

(2.04sqm)

Communal area
26.8sqm

FD
13.0sqm
Bed01

FD

13.0sqm
Bed04

762

686 half ht

900

FD762

800

(1.86sqm)

30
0

80
0

w
ar

dr
ob

e

800

dr
aw

er
s

1000

80
0

w
ar

dr
ob

e

1000
800

dr
aw

er
s

80
0

w
ar

dr
ob

e
70

0
dr

aw
er

s

1000

w/m

FD

13.0sqm
Bed07

762

FD

18.5sqm
Bed05

762(2.04sqm)
686

800
w/m t/d t/d

610

(1.85sqm)
686

80011.6sqm
Bed06

FD

(1.85sqm)

686

800

FDFD

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before work
commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for
amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current
British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building Regulations.
Where structural alterations take place, care must be taken by the Contractor to
afford required restraint to all affected areas during & after the building work.
Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the
Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural Calculations &
other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict, Calculations must take
precedence. The service provided by Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and
Building Regulations submissions only; the company accepts no liability for any site
works, defects or future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or
in part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:100,200@A3

-

06/05/2021

21-12_PL03_7

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Conversion to HMO -
Proposed plans & elevations

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

25 Glebe Road,
Didcot, OX11 8PL

For Planning Approval

First floor plan

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

Ground floor plan

Front elevation Flank elevation

Rear elevation Flank elevation/section

Roof plan
Scale 1:200

P
age 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S3973/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 15.9.2021 
 PARISH DIDCOT 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Alan Thompson 

Ian Snowdon 
 APPLICANT Mr David Granat 
 SITE 14 Haydon Road, Didcot, OX11 7JD 
 PROPOSAL Change of use of dwelling house (C3) to a large 10-

bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (Sui 
genesis) facilitated by two storey side extensions, a 
single storey rear extension, and extension to the 
dropped kerb to create additional parking. 

 OFFICER Roseanne Lillywhite 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that planning permission should be 

granted, having regard to the material planning considerations and the development 
plan. 
 

1.2 This application is referred to planning committee because Didcot Town Council 
object to the development and the officer recommendation is for approval. 
 

1.3 
 
 
 

Number 14 Haydon Road is a two storey, detached property fronting onto Haydon 
Road, which is located off the Broadway close to Didcot town centre.  The site has no 
special designation. A location plan of the site can be found at Appendix 1. 
 

1.4 This application seeks planning permission to change the use of the dwelling to a 10 
bedroom house in multiple occupation (HMO), a ‘sui generis’ use. 
 

1.5 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number. 
 

1.6 Two storey side extensions and a single storey rear extension were recently approved 
under delegated powers under application reference P21/S2573/HH (Appendix 3).  
The extensions forming part of this planning application remain unchanged in terms of 
scale and footprint from what was previously approved.   

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Didcot Town Council – Objects to the development for the following reasons; 

 
- Unneighbourly  
- Not in-keeping with the area 
- Additional noise pollution  
- Significant increase in activity and insufficient car parking  

 
Third Party Representations – 9 x objectors  
 

- Concerns regarding parking, increase traffic, waste, additional noise and impact 
on the character of the street scene 

Page 49

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S3973/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2573/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions. The proposal seeks 
the change of use from a single dwelling into a 10-bedroom House in Multiple 
Occupation. 
The development has provided a total of five parking spaces for the development, in 
addition it has been recommended that cycle parking provision is provided in the form 
of six “Sheffield” type cycle stands which must be covered/secure and be located as 
close to the front door of the property as possible. 
 
The site benefits from a high level of accessibility with many typical town centre 
amenities, shops, services, employment opportunities and public transport links within 
walking distance. 
Furthermore, there are on-street controls and traffic calming measures within the 
vicinity and additionally within the vicinity of the site is a number of car parks. 
The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network. 
After investigation and reviewing the supplied documents, the Highway Authority has 
no objection subject to the above condition(s) being applied to any permission which 
may be granted on the basis of highway safety 
 
Private Sector Housing Team – No objections   
 
Environmental Protection Officer – No objections 
 
Waste Management Officer – Standard comments received for general planning 
applications 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P21/S2573/HH - Approved (23/08/2021) 

Two storey side extensions and single storey rear extension, associated hardstanding 
and creation of a dropped kerb. (As amended by Proposed Floor plans received 19th 
July 2021, to remove the ground floor bedroom with ensuite, remove 1st floor ensuite 
bathrooms to 4 bedrooms and allowing for a 5-bedroom property with family bathroom 
at first floor level) 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, 
so an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required. 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development      
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character    
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space    
DES6  -  Residential Amenity    
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources    
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV3 - Biodiversity    
EP3  -  Waste collection and Recycling    
H17  -  Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple Occupation  
INF4 – Water resources 
ENV3 - Biodiversity  
TRANS2  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility    
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 

Page 50

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2573/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Didcot does not have a made neighbourhood plan 

 
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 
 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. 
 
Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should 
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

6.2 The main issues to consider in relation to this development are as follows; 
 

- Control and Definition of HMOs 
- The principle of development 
- Design and character 
- Residential amenity 
- Amenity space 
- Impact on highway safety and access and parking  
- Waste management  
- Carbon reduction 
- Biodiversity  

 
6.3 Control and Definition of HMOs 

 
The council have two forms of control for houses in multiple occupation (HMO); 

1. There is the use of the building covered by planning legislation; and 
2. Licensing from our private sector housing team 

 
1. Planning Use - An HMO is defined as a property rented out by at least 3 people who 
are not from 1 “household” (for example a family) but share facilities like a bathroom 
and a kitchen. HMOs are essentially house shares.  
 
Planning permission is not required for a change of use from a dwelling (C3) to a small 
HMO (up to 6 occupants) (C4) as this level of use is deemed to be similar to that of any 
family. Such a change of use is permitted development.  

 

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

Planning permission is required to the change of use of a dwelling or small HMO to a 
large HMO because large HMOs are “sui generis” i.e they are unique uses that do not 
fall within any other use class category. 

 

2.Licensing from our private sector housing team - A licence from the council 
(under the terms of the Housing Act 2004) is required for HMOs of more than 3 people. 
There are small HMOs and large HMO’s A property is deemed to be a large HMO if all 
of the following apply: 
 
 it is rented to 5 or more people who form more than 1 household 

 some or all tenants share toilet, bathroom or kitchen facilities 

 at least 1 tenant pays rent (or their employer pays it for them). 
 

6.4 The principle of development 
 
Policy H17 of SOLP allows for the conversion and subdivision of existing dwellings into 
houses of multiple occupation provided the development would not harm the amenity of 
the occupants of nearby properties, and it is appropriate in terms of the size of the 
property and the proposed internal layout, access, private amenity space and car 
parking provision. These factors will be assessed elsewhere in this report but subject to 
them being acceptable, officers consider the principle of the change of use is 
acceptable.  
 
It is clear that the thrust of the policy is permissive in its stance to allow dwellings to be 
subdivided and converted to an intensified use as a house in multiple occupation. 
 
It is worth noting and weighing in the balance that under the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, planning permission is not usually required for a 
change of use from a family dwelling (Use Class C3) to an HMO of up to 6 unrelated 
persons (Use Class C4). 
 

6.5 Design and Character 
 
Policy DES1 requires new development to be of high-quality design. The policy gives a 
wide range of measures against which development will be assessed, including efficient 
use of land, net gains and no net loss of biodiversity, sustainability and respect for local 
character and context. This respect for local character is echoed by policy DES2 which 
requires new development to be designed to reflect the positive features that make up 
the character of the local area and it should both physically and visually enhance and 
complement the surroundings.  
 
The proposed side and rear extensions have already been granted planning permission 
and this application includes those approved extensions and seeks to the change of 
use of the enlarged property to a 10-bedroom HMO.   The extensions will be 
constructed in matching brick with matching roof tiles.   
 
The two-storey side extensions are compliant with specific design guidance within the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide (2016).  
 
Officers are of the opinion the proposed extensions, as already approved as 
householder extensions are compliant with policy DES1 and DES2.  
 
 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

6.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Residential amenity 
 
Policy DES6 of SOLP relates to residential amenity and requires that development 
proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on 
the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative 
impacts in relation to loss of privacy, day light and sunlight, dominance or visual 
intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions, pollution and 
external lighting.  
 

6.7 
 
 
 
 

The impact of the proposed extensions on neighbouring amenities were considered 
under the householder planning application reference P21/S2573/HH with officers 
concluding they were not unneighbourly.  The proposed extensions in this case remain 
as approved in terms of footprint, overall height and eaves height.   
Obscured glazing and non-opening windows have been conditioned to the north facing 
first floor ensuite to ensure that the privacy of the occupants of number 16 Haydon 
Road is retained.   
 
The orientation of the application site and the two nearest neighbours; numbers 12 and 
16 Haydon Road is demonstrated below; 
 

 
 
Subject to the attached obscured glazing condition, officers are of the opinion that the 
proposal will not cause material harm to the amenities of the occupants of numbers 12 
and 16 Haydon Road, in the form of loss of daylight, outlook, privacy, visual dominance. 
 
The increased activity generated by the additional residents has the potential to harm 
neighbours through noise and disturbance. The council’s environmental protection 
officer was consulted on this application, and they raise no objections in terms of noise. 
The increased number of comings and goings are not considered to result in increased 
disturbance that would be significantly harmful to neighbour amenity. 
 
As such, the proposal will therefore accord with policy DES6 of SOLP.  
 
 
 
 

Page 53

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2573/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

6.8 Amenity space 
 
Policy H17 requires the conversion of dwellings to HMOs to provide sufficient internal 
space and external amenity areas for the proposed number of residents. The response 
from the council’s private sector housing team states that under the HMO licence 
regime, a bedroom of over 10.22m2 may be occupied by two people. All of the 
bedrooms meet this minimum floor area. It would not be reasonable to impose 
standards on the internal layout that exceed those required by the licensing regime and 
in the absence of an objection from the private sector housing team it is held that the 
internal layout would provide a sufficient level of amenity for future residents.  
 
Policy DES5 of SOLP relates to outdoor amenity space and requires that a private 
outdoor garden or amenity areas should be provided for all new dwellings. The amount 
of land should be provided for amenity space will be determined by the size of the 
dwelling.  
 
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum areas based on the number 
of bedrooms and for 3+ bedrooms 100 square metres should be provided.  
 
The existing detached property benefits from a generously sized rear garden that 
provides external private amenity space for occupants, and there is an extant planning 
permission for two storey side and single storey rear extensions.  Even with the 
permitted extensions the remaining amenity area is over 100sqm in size and complies 
with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and Policy DES5. 
 

6.9 Impact on highway safety, access and parking  
 
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows: 
 
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.  
 
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.  
 
Policy TRANS5 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway 
safety and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas. The application is 
submitted with a parking plan showing five parking spaces for cars to the front of the 
dwelling. 
 
In this case, there have been no objections received from the County Highways Officer, 
subject to the 4 conditions in respect of access, vision splay protection, provision of 
parking for cars and for bicycles. 
 
In the absence of an objection from OCC as highways authority, officers consider that a 
refusal on highway safety or parking grounds would not be reasonable or justified. The 
site is in a highly sustainable location close to amenities and public transport so the 
level of parking provided would be acceptable in this instance.  
 
The provision of cycle parking will encourage more sustainable modes of transport and 
a condition is recommended requiring details of this storage to ensure it accords with 
OCC standards. 
 

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

Subject to the recommended conditions and in the absence of an objection from OCC 
officers consider that the development will not harm highway safety nor the local 
highway network, an acceptable level of parking would be provided, and sustainable 
modes of transport would be encouraged, in accordance with policy TRANS5. As 
sufficient and safe access and parking will be provided the application is also 
considered to accord with criterion ii of policy H17. 
 

6.10 Waste management 
 
Policy EP3 requires development proposals for residential use to ensure adequate 
facilities are provided for the sorting, storage and collection of waste and recycling. 
 
There have been no objections received from the council’s internal waste management 
team.  A condition is recommended requesting refuse and recycling details to be 
submitted prior to the occupation of the development.  As such, subject to the attached 
condition the proposal complies with policy EP3.  
 

6.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carbon reduction 
 
Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development, including building conversions, 
refurbishments and extensions, should seek to minimise the carbon and energy 
impacts of their design and construction. Proposals must demonstrate that they are 
seeking to limit greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, 
landscape and planting. 
 
Officers are satisfied there is sufficient information provided as part of the submitted 
documents to comply with the aims of Policy DES8.  Information copied below taken 
from the submitted Planning, Design and Access Statement; 
 
By way of contributing to the reduction in carbon, the proposal would also achieve 
current building construction standards with added sustainability measures 
through; 
A. The limitation of the amount of inherent material, structure and 
embodied energy through the employment of good building standards to create an 
excellent SAP rating; 
B. Use of locally sourced, recycled materials and labour where practicable; 
C. Maximizing the use of natural light through large windows; 
D. Reduced internal water consumption of 110 litres per person per day through the 
incorporation of water efficient sanitary fittings, including low flow toilets and water 
efficient taps for wash basins; 
E. Refuse, recycling and composting facilities to be provided to work with the Council’s 
existing waste and recycling collection service; 
F. Secure cycle provision to encourage sustainable modes of 
transport; 
G. ‘A’ rated electrical appliances and energy saving light fittings; 
H. ‘A’ rated double glazed windows with natural cross ventilation provision; 
I. Recycling of waste construction materials where practicable; 
J. Permeable driveway/parking spaces to avoid increase in surface water runoff 
 

6.12 Biodiversity  
 
Policy ENV3 supports development that will conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity 
in the district. All development should provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible. 
As a minimum, there should be no net loss of biodiversity.  
 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

Boundary hedging and trees have been removed within the existing curtilage of the 
dwellinghouse.  However, as these are located within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse 
that is not located within a conservation area, removal did not require formal consent.  
To ensure there is no net loss in biodiversity a condition is recommended requiring the 
provision of bird boxes on the property.  
 
With this condition attached it is considered that there will be no net loss in biodiversity 
and the application complies with policy ENV3.  
 

6.13 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
CIL is liable at a rate of £13,380.55 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 This proposal seeks to intensify the permitted residential use by creating a 1-

bedroomed House of Multiple Occupation. There are no objections from statutory 
technical consultees on grounds of parking, highways safety, noise pollution and waste 
management.  The location of the site within the town centre of Didcot and the access 
the occupants will have to all the amenities the town centre provides including public 
transport links both to the wider locality and regional locality in respect of the proximity 
of the railway station. 
 
The extensions form part of a previously approved householder scheme that can be 
accommodated within the plot and are not considered harmful to the character of the 
existing property or wider street scene.  
 
The development makes best use of a centrally located site and provides for a level of 
accommodation which is not out of place for town centre location. In conjunction with 
the attached conditions the proposal accords with the Development Plan.  
 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 That Planning Permission should be granted subject to the following conditions;  

 
 1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 

2 : Approved plans  
3 : Matching materials (walls and roof) 
4 : Obscure glazing  
5 : Refuse & Recycling Storage (Details required) 
6 : New vehicular access  
7 : Vision splay dimensions  
8 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained  
9 : Cycle Parking Facilities 
10 : Bird box 
11 : Highways Informative 
 

 

Author:           Roseanne Lillywhite 

E-mail:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Contact No:    01235 422600   

 

Page 56

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


N

Parking

Parking

Existing
parking

Bins

Front wall
removed to allow
for new parking

Bike store

Parking

Parking

Planting

Planting

Planting

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all
dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by
the Contractor before work commences. If any discrepancies are
found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for amendments. All work
to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current British
Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building
Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected
areas during & after the building work. Where new loads are
imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for
adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural
Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict,
Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by Ktech is
a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or
future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in
part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:1250, 500@A3

Single storey rear & double storey
side extensions -
Site location & block plans

A

27/05/2021

21-13_PL01

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

14 Hayden Road,
Didcot, OX11 7JD

For Planning Permission

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

EXISTING PROPOSED

Appendix 1

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 10
P

21/S
3973/FU

L



Lounge Hall

Dining

Kitchen

Store

Pantry

Cpd

Bedroom

Bedroom

Landing
Bedroom

Bathroom

WC

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise
noted all dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to
be verified on site by the Contractor before work
commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be
notified immediately for amendments. All work to be
carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current
British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take
place, care must be taken by the Contractor to afford
required restraint to all affected areas during & after the
building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing
lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy
& to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with
Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The
service provided by Ktech is a drawing service for Planning
and Building Regulations submissions only; the company
accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly
or in part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:100,200@A3

-

27/05/2021

21-13_PL02

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Single storey rear & double
storey side extensions -
Existing plans & elevations

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

14 Hayden Road,
Didcot, OX11 7JD

For Planning Approval

First floor plan

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

Ground floor plan

Front elevationFlank elevation

Rear elevationFlank elevation

Roof plan
Scale 1:200

Appendix 2P
age 58



General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise
noted all dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to
be verified on site by the Contractor before work
commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be
notified immediately for amendments. All work to be
carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current
British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take
place, care must be taken by the Contractor to afford
required restraint to all affected areas during & after the
building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing
lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy
& to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with
Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The
service provided by Ktech is a drawing service for Planning
and Building Regulations submissions only; the company
accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly
or in part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:100@A3

-

27/05/2021

21-13_PL04_10

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Single storey rear & double
storey side extensions -
Proposed elevations

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

14 Hayden Road,
Didcot, OX11 7JD

For Planning Approval

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

Front elevation Flank elevation

Rear elevation Flank elevation

P
age 59



800 800

800

800

800

700

1200

draw
ers

wardrobe

wardrobe

1000

800
drawers

1000

70
0

dr
aw

er
s

wardrobe

800
wardrobe700

drawers1000

600
w

ardrobe
600

dr aw
er s

900

(1.82sqm)

(1.81sqm)

Hall

Cpd

Utility

Communal area

F/F F/F

(2.13sqm)

13.9sqm
Bed02

FD

15.5sqm
762

Bed01

FD

14.7sqm

762

Bed05
FD

15.7sqm

76
2

Bed04

FD

11.8sqm

762
Bed03

FD

(1.81sqm)

686

686

686

(1.95sqm)

45.4sqm

F/F

686

800x1000

800

800

800

800

700
draw

ers

60
0

dr
aw

er
s

60
0

dr
aw

er
s

1000

70
0

dr
aw

er
s

1200

wardrobe

wardrobe

70
0

dr
aw

er
s

1000

70
0

dr
aw

er
s

80
0

w
ar

dr
ob

e

70
0

dr
aw

er
s

70
0

dr
aw

er
s

1000

12
00

w
ar

dr
ob

e

900
w

ardrobe

900

(1.81sqm)

Landing

(1.81sqm)

(1.81sqm)

686

686

15.4sqm
762

Bed10

FD

14.7sqm

762

Bed06
FD

13.9sqm
Bed09

FD
(1.82sqm)

686

18.2sqm

762
Bed08

FD

686

(2.37sqm)

686

76
2

FD

13.4sqm
Bed07

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before work
commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for
amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current
British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building Regulations.
Where structural alterations take place, care must be taken by the Contractor to
afford required restraint to all affected areas during & after the building work.
Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the
Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural Calculations &
other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict, Calculations must take
precedence. The service provided by Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and
Building Regulations submissions only; the company accepts no liability for any site
works, defects or future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or
in part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:100,200@A3

-

27/05/2021

21-12_PL03_10

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Single storey rear & double
storey side extensions -
Proposed plans

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

14 Hayden Road,
Didcot, OX11 7JD

For Planning Approval

First floor plan

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

Ground floor plan

Roof plan
Scale 1:200

P
age 60



N

Parking

Parking

Existing
parking

Bins

Section of wall
removed to allow
for new parking

Bike store

Existing wall height
to be no higher

than 600mm

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all
dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by
the Contractor before work commences. If any discrepancies are
found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for amendments. All work
to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current British
Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building
Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected
areas during & after the building work. Where new loads are
imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for
adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural
Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict,
Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by Ktech is
a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or
future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in
part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:1250, 500@A3

Single storey rear & double storey
side extensions -
Site location & block plans

-

27/05/2021

21-13_PL01

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

14 Hayden Road,
Didcot, OX11 7JD

For Planning Permission

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

EXISTING PROPOSED

Appendix 3

P
age 61



General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise
noted all dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to
be verified on site by the Contractor before work
commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be
notified immediately for amendments. All work to be
carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current
British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take
place, care must be taken by the Contractor to afford
required restraint to all affected areas during & after the
building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing
lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy
& to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with
Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The
service provided by Ktech is a drawing service for Planning
and Building Regulations submissions only; the company
accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly
or in part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:100@A3

-

27/05/2021

21-13_PL04

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Single storey rear & double
storey side extensions -
Proposed elevations

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

14 Hayden Road,
Didcot, OX11 7JD

For Planning Approval

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

Front elevation Flank elevation

Rear elevation Flank elevation

P
age 62



Hall

Cpd

Kitchen

F/F

Gym

Playroom
Reception

Utility

Dining/family

Cpd

Cu
pb

oa
rd

s

WC

Snug

Landing

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bathroom

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before work
commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for
amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current
British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building Regulations.
Where structural alterations take place, care must be taken by the Contractor to
afford required restraint to all affected areas during & after the building work.
Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the
Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural Calculations &
other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict, Calculations must take
precedence. The service provided by Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and
Building Regulations submissions only; the company accepts no liability for any site
works, defects or future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or
in part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:100,200@A3

A

27/05/2021

21-12_PL03

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Single storey rear & double
storey side extensions -
Proposed plans

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

14 Hayden Road,
Didcot, OX11 7JD

For Planning Approval

First floor plan

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

Ground floor plan

Roof plan
Scale 1:200

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S5378/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 23.12.2021 
 PARISH DIDCOT 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Celia Wilson 

Axel Macdonald 
Mocky Khan 

 APPLICANT Co-Living Capital 
 SITE Ridgeway House, 1A Hagbourne Road, Didcot, 

OX11 8DP 
 PROPOSAL Change of use of the existing office to a large (Sui 

Generis) House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) with 
the addition of a rear dormer. 

 OFFICER Paul Bowers 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that planning permission should be 

granted having regard to the material planning considerations and the development 
plan. 
 

1.2 This application is referred to planning committee because Didcot Town Council 
object to the development and the officer recommendation is for approval. 
 

1.3 The application site is located within the town of Didcot. 1A Hagbourne Road is a 
detached, two storey building. It was originally a dwelling but has been in lawful office 
use (formerly Class B1 (a) - now Class E) for a number of years.  The site includes a 
car parking area and vehicular access from Hagbourne Road and a small yard area to 
the rear. 
 
The site is not located in a designated area, but the Didcot Northbourne Conservation 
Area is located to the west on the opposite side of Hagbourne Road.  
 
A plan identifying the location of the site can be found at Appendix 1. 
 

1.4  Prior approval was granted under permitted development rights in 2021 under 
application reference P21/S1243/N1A to change the use of the existing building from 
an office back to a single dwelling. The approval has not been implemented and 
therefore its current lawful use remains as an office.  
 
However, the prior approval to create a single dwelling on this site remains extant and 
is a material consideration in the determination of this application. 
 

1.5  This application seeks full planning permission to change the use of the building to a 
7-bedroom house in multiple occupation (HMO). In addition, a proposed dormer 
window is to be located on the east facing rear roof slope to allow a bedroom to be 
provided on the loft space.  
 

1.6 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S5378/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Didcot Town Council – Objects to the development for the following reasons; 

 
- Height of the rear dormer window making it overbearing and is against advice in 

the Design Guide.  
- Amenity area is inadequate for the number of bedrooms.  
- The size and appearance of the dormer window is contrary to the Design Guide.  

 
Third Party Representations – 3 x letters of objection 
 

- Concern about the possibility of the number occupants and the corresponding 
number of cars and impact on parking in the local area. 

 
Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions. A total of three parking 
spaces has been provided on the site frontage along with cycle parking which has been 
recommended by condition. A site visit was undertaken at 8.10pm to review the 
carriageway conditions, which indicated available space on-street. The site benefits 
from a high level of accessibility with many typical town centre amenities, shops, 
services, employment opportunities and public transport links within walking distance. 
Furthermore, there are on-street controls within the vicinity to prevent indiscriminate 
and/or obstructive parking, in addition within the vicinity of the site is a number of car 
parks. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway 
network 
 
Private Sector Housing Team – Comments setting out the requirements for a license 
from the council for HMO once the building is occupied by more than 5 people.  
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P21/S2364/DIS - Approved (28/06/2021) 

Discharge of condition 1 (parking) on application P21/S1243/N1A . 
 
(Change of use of office back to a dwelling). 
 
P21/S1243/N1A - Approved (12/05/2021) 
Change of use of office back to a dwelling 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, 
so an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required. 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES3  -  Design and Access Statements 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity    
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
EP3 – Waste collection and recycling 
EMP3  -  Retention of employment land 
ENV3 - Biodiversity 

Page 66

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2364/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S1243/N1A


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

ENV8  -  Conservation Areas 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H17  -  Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple Occupation 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Didcot does not have a made neighbourhood plan. 

 
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. 
 
Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should 
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

6.2 The main issues to consider in relation to this development are as follows; 
 

- Control and Definition of HMOs 
- The principle of development. 
- Impact heritage assets. 
- Residential amenity. 
- Amenity space.  
- Impact on highway safety.  
- Carbon reduction.  
- Waste and recycling. 
- Biodiversity. 
- CIL. 

 
6.3 Control and Definition of HMOs 

 
The council have two forms of control for houses in multiple occupation (HMO); 

1. There is the use of the building covered by planning legislation; and 
2. Licensing from our private sector housing team 

 
 

Page 67



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

1. Planning Use. An HMO is defined as a property rented out by at least 3 people who 
are not from 1 “household” (for example a family) but share facilities like a bathroom 
and a kitchen. HMOs are essentially house shares.  
 
Planning permission is not required for a change of use from a dwelling (C3) to a small 
HMO (up to 6 occupants) (C4) as this level of use is deemed to be similar to that of any 
family. Such a change of use is permitted development.  

 
Planning permission is required to the change of use of a dwelling or small HMO to a 
large HMO because large HMOs are “sui generis” i.e they are unique uses that do not 
fall within any other use class category. 

 
2.Licensing from our private sector housing team. A licence from the council (under 
the terms of the Housing Act 2004) is required for HMOs of more than 3 people. There 
are small HMOs and large HMOs; A property is deemed to be a large HMO if all of the 
following apply: 
 
 it is rented to 5 or more people who form more than 1 household 

 some or all tenants share toilet, bathroom or kitchen facilities 

 at least 1 tenant pays rent (or their employer pays it for them). 
 

6.4 The principle of development. 
 
The principle of this development can be broken down into two main considerations. 
 

- Whether the loss of the employment use is acceptable and; 
- Whether residential use on this site is acceptable 

 
I will take each issue in turn and assess the planning merit of each. 
 

6.5 Whether the loss of the employment use is acceptable 
 
Policy EMP3 of SOLP states that existing employment land will be retained in order to 
promote and grow a balanced, sustainable economy and local services. Proposals for 
the redevelopment or change of use of employment land to nonemployment uses will 
only be permitted if: 
i) the applicants can demonstrate that any employment use is no longer viable; or 
ii) it is evidenced that there is no market interest in the site following one year of active 
and effective marketing; or 
iii) the development would bring about significant improvements to the living conditions 
of nearby residents, or to the environment. In assessing this, the Council will consider 
whether there is a realistic prospect of mitigating the detrimental effects of continuing 
employment use. 
 
In addition to the criteria above the policy goes on to say that, where there is no 
reasonable prospect of land or premises being used for continued employment use, a 
mixed-use enabling development which incorporates employment space should first be 
considered. 
 

6.6 The applicant has not demonstrated that the existing use is no longer viable and that 
there is no market interest in the site following a year of marketing. The proposal 
therefore conflicts with Policy EMP3.  
 

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

However, the grant of prior approval to allow the conversion of the office to become a 
single dwelling is a material planning consideration that needs to be weighed in the 
balance against the provisions of this policy.  
 
The fact that the office use can cease, and a dwelling created without any further 
approval from the District Council is of considerable weight and it justifies setting aside 
the requirements of this policy.  
 
In my view, the council cannot resist the loss of the employment use given such a 
strong fallback position. 
 

6.7 Whether residential use on this site is acceptable 
 
The development proposes residential development and therefore the Housing policies 
within the development plan are relevant.  
 
Policy STRAT1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan sets out the overall strategy for 
development in the district. The policy includes specific reference to focussing major 
new development in Science Vale and Didcot Garden Town. In addition to protecting 
and enhancing the countryside and particularly those areas within the two AONBs and 
Oxford Green Belt by ensuring that outside of the towns and villages any change 
relates to very specific needs such as those of the agricultural industry or enhancement 
of the environment. 
 

6.8 Policy H1 relates to delivering new homes and states that the residential development 
of previously developed land will be permitted within and adjacent to the existing built-
up areas of towns, larger villages and smaller villages. 
 

6.9 The policy states that residential development on sites not allocated in the development 
plan will be permitted, amongst other provisions, provided that an important open space 
of public, environmental, historical or ecological value is not lost, nor an important 
public view harmed (H1,3 iii) 
 

6.10 Although not technically relevant to the determination of this application Policy H17 of 
SOLP allows for the conversion and subdivision of existing dwellings into an HMO 
provided that the development would not harm the amenity of the occupants of nearby 
properties, and it is appropriate in terms of the size of the property and the proposed 
internal layout, access, private amenity space and car parking provision. 
 
Given the prior approval for 1A Hagbourne Road to convert to a single dwelling without 
any further consent, it is wholly appropriate that the application is also assessed against 
this policy in my view. 
 

6.11 In addition, it is also worth noting and weighing in the balance that under the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, planning permission is not usually 
required for a change of use from a family dwelling (Use Class C3) to an HMO of up to 
6 unrelated persons (Use Class C4). 
 

6.12 In terms of Policy H1 this is a site located within one of the four main towns in the 
district. The site is not an important open space of public, environmental, historical or 
ecological value and does not result in the loss of an important public view. In your 
officer’s opinion the principle of residential development is acceptable in the context of 
this policy.  
 

Page 69



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

In addition, setting aside the policy, the principle has already been accepted through 
the prior approval to create a dwelling within this existing building. 
 

6.13 In respect of Policy H17 of SOLP it states that the sub-division of dwellings and 
conversions to multiple occupation will be permitted provided that the development: 
i) would not harm the amenity of the occupants of nearby properties; and 
ii) is appropriate in terms of the size of the property and the 
proposed internal layout, access, private amenity space and car parking provision. 
 

6.14 The two provisions of Policy H17 are discussed in depth in the following sections of this 
report. However, it is clear that the thrust of the policy is permissive in its stance to 
allow dwellings to be subdivided and converted to an intensified use as a house in 
multiple occupation. 
 

6.15 In summary, your officers are satisfied there was clear justification for setting aside the 
requirements of the employment policy and the presumption in favour of residential use 
for the conversion of this building that the principle of the development is acceptable. 
 

6.16 Impact heritage assets. 
 
The heritage asset to consider in the case of this development is the Northbourne 
Conservation Area. The impact to consider is how the proposed development affects 
the setting of the conservation area given that the site is outside of the conservation 
area on the opposite side of the road.  
 
Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
provides: 
 
In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of 
any [functions under or by virtue of] any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area. 
 
Section 72 (1) must also be considered alongside relevant policies contained in the 
NPPF.  
 
Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that in determining applications LPA’s should take 
account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of the heritage 
assets and putting them to viable use consistent with conservation, the positive 
contribution that conservation deals with the impact of a proposed development on the 
“significance” of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities including their 
economic vitality and the desirability of new development making a positive contribution 
to local character and distinctiveness.  
 
Paragraph 205 of the NPPF requires that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
This is followed through into the development plan by Policy ENV8 of SOLP which 
relates to conservation areas.  
 
 

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

6.17 More generally Policy DES1 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high-
quality design subject to a series of criteria and Policy DES2 states that all new 
development must be designed to reflect the positive features that make up the 
character of the local area and should both physically and visually enhance and 
complement the surroundings.  
 

6.18 The change of use of the building to become a dwelling will have no material effect on 
the setting of the adjacent conservation area. The building itself is residential in 
appearance and was once a dwelling prior to becoming an office. Therefore, the 
historic use of the building, it's location and existing appearance will not cause harm to 
the setting and appreciation of the conservation area. 
 

6.19 The main physical change to the building arises through the addition of a flat roof 
dormer window on the rear facing western elevation of the building. Large flat roof 
dormer windows that are there to provide headroom are generally discouraged in the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide. 
 

6.20  In considering this addition to the building and its impact on the conservation area 
regard must be had to the fact that it is to be located on the roof slope away from the 
conservation area. In addition, it is also not going to be prominent in wider public views.  
 

6.21 When also assessing its impact, I have to have regard to the fact that given the building 
can be used as a dwelling without any need for planning permission from the council 
the building will then gain permitted development rights to carry out certain extensions 
and alterations. This would include the erection of a dormer window on the rear roof 
slope. Therefore, should the building be occupied as a dwelling the same dormer 
window could be erected at any point without needing planning permission. 
 

6.22 Taking all of these points into consideration especially having regard to the fact that the 
dormer window is on a roof slope away from the conservation area your officers are 
satisfied the conservation area and its setting will not be harmed as a consequence of 
the erection the dormer window as shown on the proposed plans. The development 
therefore accords with policy ENV8 of SOLP.  
 

6.23 Residential amenity 
 
Policy DES6 of SOLP relates to residential amenity and requires that development 
proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on 
the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative 
impacts in relation to loss of privacy, day light and sunlight, dominance or visual 
intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions, pollution and 
external lighting.  
 

6.24 The change of use of the building to become a dwelling in this location within an 
established residential area located centrally within the town will not in of itself cause an 
unneighbourly impact. 
 

6.25 The physical change to the building with the addition of the dormer window will be the 
only visually appreciable element of the development that will be seen by neighbouring 
properties.  
 
As I have discussed earlier this dormer window could be added should the applicant 
change the use of the building to a dwelling because the dormer window could be 
constructed under permitted development rights. Notwithstanding this fact your officers 
are of the view that given that there are existing first floor windows in the rear of the 

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

building the dormer window will not give rise to a materially greater level of overlooking 
adjoining properties than the current situation. 
 
The proposal will therefore accord with policy DES6 of SOLP.  
 

6.26 Amenity space.  
 
Policy DES5 of SOLP relates to outdoor amenity space and requires that a private 
outdoor garden or amenity areas should be provided for all new dwellings. The amount 
of land should be provided for amenity space will be determined by the size of the 
dwelling.  
 
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum areas based on the number 
of bedrooms and for 2 bedroom properties 50 square metres is required and for 3+ 
bedrooms 100 square metres should be provided.  
 
An inability to provide the minimum amenity space and or parking provision can be an 
indicator that what is being proposed constitutes an over development of the site. 
 

6.27 In respect of flatted development, a communal area can be provided as long as the 
total space is commensurate with the number of units and the number of bedrooms.  
 
However, each site and proposal must be assessed on its own merits. The amount of 
communal amenity space that would be available for the occupants of this property is 
clearly below the council's minimum standards of 100 square metres as it proposes 32 
square metres in total.  
 
Your officers are satisfied however that the central location of this property in relation to 
the amenities provided for within the Didcot town centre in addition to the fact this 
proposal makes the best use of available land in a sustainable location, is sufficient 
justification to set aside the strict minimum standards that would be applied through the 
application with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and Policy DES5. 
 

6.28 Impact on highway safety.  
 
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows: 
 
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.  
 
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.  
Policy TRANS5 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway 
safety and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas. 
 

6.29 A total of three parking spaces has been provided on the site frontage along with cycle 
parking.  
 
In response to concerns from local residents about the number occupants, the 
corresponding number of cars and impact on parking in the local area, the Oxfordshire 
County Council Highways Officer carried out a site visit at 8.10pm to review the 
carriageway conditions. They were satisfied that there was available space on-street for 
parking in the vicinity.  
 

Page 72



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

The site benefits from a high level of accessibility with many typical town centre 
amenities, shops, services, employment opportunities and public transport links within 
walking distance.  
 
Furthermore, there are on-street controls within the vicinity to prevent indiscriminate 
and/or obstructive parking. There are also a number of car parks within walking 
distance of the site.  
 

6.30 In conjunction with conditions ensuring the provision of cycle parking facilities and the 
retention of the parking area being provided the proposal is unlikely to have a 
significant adverse impact on the highway network and will accord with Policy TRANS5 
of SOLP.  
 

6.31 Carbon reduction. 
 
Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development, including building conversions, 
refurbishments and extensions, should seek to minimise the carbon and energy 
impacts of their design and construction. Proposals must demonstrate that they are 
seeking to limit greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, 
landscape and planting. 
 

6.32 There is an important distinction to make between the building conversion and a 
change of use. It is entirely possible to change the use of a building without works of 
conversion.  
 
In this case the change of use to a HMO could potentially occur without carrying out 
any external works. The creation of a seventh bedroom within the roof space with the 
erection of the dormer window is the only external works that are proposed in this 
application.  
 

6.33 It is difficult for the erection of a dormer window in isolation to bring about a limitation of 
greenhouse emissions to this building that is required by this policy.  
 
However, it is also important to remember that the dormer window can potentially be 
erected without the need for planning permission and therefore it is your officers view 
that the limited scope afforded by the external works to this building along with this fall -
back position is a material planning consideration that weighs heavy in the balance and 
outweighs the requirements of Policy DES8. 
 

6.34 Waste and recycling. 
 
Policy EP3 requires development proposals for residential use to ensure adequate 
facilities are provided for the sorting, storage and collection of waste and recycling. 
 
The recommended condition requiring details of the refuse and recycling storage will 
ensure that adequate provision is secured. The council’s waste management officer 
does not object to the development. Therefore, subject to the recommended condition, 
the application complies with policy EP3.  
 

6.35 Biodiversity.  
 
Policy ENV3 of SOLP relates to biodiversity. It states that all development should 
provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible. As a minimum, there should be no net 
loss of biodiversity. 
 

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

  

6.36 This development does not result in the loss of biodiversity. The scope of the changes 
will be internal to the building with the exception of the dormer window.  
 
Opportunities for a gain in biodiversity are limited on this site given the size of the plot 
and the location. However, in your officers view the development does accord with 
Policy ENV3 in as much as there will be no net loss of biodiversity.   
 
In order to demonstrate a net gain a condition is proposed that requires a bird box to be 
erected on the building thereby satisfying the requirement of Policy ENV3 of SOLP.  
 

 CIL.  
 
CIL is liable to the amount of £2257.60 from this development.  

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The loss of the employment use and conversion to residential use has already been 

accepted as a result of the recent grant of prior approval from the council. This proposal 
seeks to intensify the permitted residential use by creating a House of Multiple 
Occupation. It is accepted that both parking and amenity space is below the council's 
normal standards. However, the mitigating factor is the location of the site within the 
town centre of Didcot and the access the occupants will have to all the amenities the 
town centre provides including public transport links both to the wider locality and 
regional locality in respect of the proximity of the railway station. 
 
The proposed dormer window, whilst contrary to the design guide, is on the roof slope 
of the building away from the adjacent conservation area and will not be prominent in 
wider public views. In addition to the fact that the window could be erected under 
permitted development rights should the building be used as permitted as a single 
dwelling, this factor in addition the lack of any material harm to the setting of the 
conservation area ensures that it is acceptable. 
 
The development makes best use of a centrally located site and provides for a level of 
accommodation which is not out of place for town centre location. In conjunction with 
the attached conditions the proposal accords with the development plan. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 That Planning Permission should be granted subject to the following conditions;  
 
 

 
Standard conditions 
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 
2 : Approved plans  
 
Prior to occupation conditions  
3 : Refuse and recycling storage (details required) 
4 : Parking and manoeuvring areas retained 
5 : Cycle parking facilities 
 
Compliance conditions  
6 : Materials as on planning application forms 
7 : Bird Box 
 

Author:           Mr. P Bowers 

E-mail:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Contact No    01235 422600 

Page 74

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 75

Agenda Item 11P21/S5378/FUL



N

Bike
store

Bins

Parking

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all
dimensions are given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by
the Contractor before work commences. If any discrepancies are
found, Ktech is to be notified immediately for amendments. All work
to be carried out in strict accordance to relevant & current British
Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations & Building
Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected
areas during & after the building work. Where new loads are
imposed on existing lintels, they must be checked by the Builder for
adequacy & to LA & SE approval & replaced if necessary. Where
applicable, this drawing must be read in conjunction with Structural
Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if drawings conflict,
Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by Ktech is
a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or
future defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in
part without prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

1:1250, 500@A3

Conversion to HMO -
Site location & block plans

-

16/12/2021

21-23_PL01_7

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

For Planning Permission

Site Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

Block Plan
Scale 1:500

0 10 205 15 25m

1:500

EXISTING PROPOSED

Appendix 2

P
age 76



Kitchen

Hall

Cpd

Cpd

Garden

Kitchenette

WCShower room

Cpd

Landing

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before
work commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified
immediately for amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to
relevant & current British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected areas during
& after the building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels,
they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval &
replaced if necessary. Where applicable, this drawing must be read in
conjunction with Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by
Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in part without
prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

First floor plan

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

Ground floor plan

Front elevation Flank elevation

Rear elevation Flank elevation/section

Roof plan
Scale 1:200

1:100@A3

-

16/12/2021

21-23_PL02_7

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Conversion to HMO -
Existing plans & elevations

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

For Planning Approval

P
age 77



0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

1:100@A3

-

16/12/2021

21-23_PL04_7

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Conversion to HMO -
Proposed elevations

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

For Planning Approval

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before
work commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified
immediately for amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to
relevant & current British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected areas during
& after the building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels,
they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval &
replaced if necessary. Where applicable, this drawing must be read in
conjunction with Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by
Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in part without
prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

Front elevation Flank elevation

Rear elevation Flank elevation

P
age 78



shelving

+165

Hall

+140Garden

Bed01FD

F/F
F/F

Communal area

w/m
t/d

stacked

Bed02
FD

Bed06FD

Bed05

Bed04

Bed03

FD

FD

FD

ht1175

ht1800

ht2300

Bed07
FD

0 5 10m4321 6 7 8 9

1:100@A3

-

16/12/2021

21-23_PL03_sb

Drawn:

Project
title:

Drawing
title:

Drawing
No.:

Drawing
status:

Scale:

Rev.:

Conversion to HMO -
Proposed plans

Rev Date Amendment

Ktech technical drawings
Berkhamsted House, 121 High Street, Berkhamsted, Herts, HP4 2DJ
m:07711182591   t:01494 717018  e:ktechdrawings@yahoo.com

Ridgeway House 1a Hagbourne
Road, Didcot, OX11 8DP

For Planning Approval

General Notes:
Do not scale, use figured dims only. Unless otherwise noted all dimensions are
given in millimeters. All dims to be verified on site by the Contractor before
work commences. If any discrepancies are found, Ktech is to be notified
immediately for amendments. All work to be carried out in strict accordance to
relevant & current British Standards, Codes of Practice, CDM Regulations &
Building Regulations. Where structural alterations take place, care must be
taken by the Contractor to afford required restraint to all affected areas during
& after the building work. Where new loads are imposed on existing lintels,
they must be checked by the Builder for adequacy & to LA & SE approval &
replaced if necessary. Where applicable, this drawing must be read in
conjunction with Structural Calculations & other Consultants drawings; if
drawings conflict, Calculations must take precedence. The service provided by
Ktech is a drawing service for Planning and Building Regulations submissions
only; the company accepts no liability for any site works, defects or future
defects. Ktech drawings must not be reproduced wholly or in part without
prior permission from the company.

© Copyright Ktech technical drawings

First floor plan

Ground floor plan

Roof plan

Loft plan

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S1458/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 25.3.2021 
 PARISH ASTON ROWANT 
 WARD MEMBERS Lynn Lloyd 

Ian White 
 APPLICANT Mr Chris Rogers 
 SITE Wayside, Stert Road, Chinnor, OX39 4NL 
 PROPOSAL Demolition of existing three bedroom detached 

dwelling house and outbuildings; Construction of 
new private self-contained seven bedroom dwelling 
house with landscaping (as amended to reduce the 
scale of the development and revise the layout). 

 OFFICER Tom Wyatt 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 The application is referred to Planning Committee due to Aston Rowant Parish 

Council’s objections.   
 

1.2 The application site, which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A, 
comprises a large residential plot totalling approximately 7700 square metres.  The 
plot is occupied by a relatively modest detached two storey dwelling and several 
outbuildings to its side and rear.  The site is located within the small settlement of 
Kingston Stert and is not subject to any special designations (AONB, etc), however, 
the rear part of the site is located within Flood Zone 3.  
 

1.3 The application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the existing dwelling 
and its replacement with a new 7 bedroom dwelling spread over three floors although 
the third floor would be contained within the roofspace of the main part of the dwelling. 
A copy of the proposed plans are attached as Appendix B, and other plans, 
documentation and consultation responses can be found on the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.    

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Aston Rowant Parish Council – Objects – ‘We feel that any amendments made 

(and it is hard to see what exactly has changed) do not go far enough to mitigate the 
poor design and over-bearing impact on this site, or that the materials simply do not fit 
in with the rural character typified by the location.’ 
 
Sydenham Parish Council – No strong views following the amended plans.  
 
Countryside Officer – No objections subject to conditions to protect bats and great 
crested newts.  
 
Drainage Officer – No objections subject to surface water and foul drainage being 
agreed through conditions.  
 
Forestry Officer - No objections subject to tree protection and landscaping being agreed 
through conditions. 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S1458/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objections subject to 
conditions to secure the parking and turning areas, gravel spread on to the highway 
and the stopping up of the northernmost access.  
 
SGN Plant Protection Team – Guidance provided regarding working near gas pipes 
and electricity apparatus.  
 
South Oxfordshire District of CPRE – Concerns expressed regarding light and noise 
pollution arising from the development.  
 
Neighbours (comments in respect of original plans; no further comments have been 
received in respect of the amended plans).  
- The projection to the rear will impact on the neighbouring garden 
- Scale of development will have an adverse impact on the rural feel to the back of the 
properties.   
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P19/S4134/FUL - Withdrawn (28/09/2020) 

Demolition of the existing dwelling and garage and replacement with dwelling and 
garage 
 
P19/S4132/LDE - Withdrawn (28/09/2020) 
Certificate of Lawful Use for the continued use of a timber business. 
 
P19/S0817/LDE - Withdrawn (01/08/2019) 
Continuing use of land as a commercial tree surgeons yard including the storage and 
maintenance of plant, equipment and machinery used in connection with the business, 
the storage, processing, burning and sale of timber, and the parking of commercial 
vehicles (as clarified by agent's covering letter dated 31st May 2019) 
 
P18/S3159/PIP - Withdrawn (09/11/2018) 
Demolition of existing house and buildings and replacement with four dwellings. 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 Not application to this scale of development.  

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

 
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

STRAT1 – The overall strategy 
DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2 – Enhancing Local Character 
DES5 – Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6 – Residential Amenity 
DES8 – Promoting Sustainable Design 
DES10 – Carbon Reduction 
ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2 – Biodiversity – Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3 – Biodiversity 
ENV11 – Pollution – Potential Receptors of Pollution 
ENV12 – Pollution – Potential Sources of Pollution  
EP4 – Flood Risk 
H18 – Replacement Dwellings 
INF4 – Water Resources 

Page 82

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4134/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4132/LDE
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0817/LDE
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3159/PIP


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

TRANS5 – Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Aston Rowant Neighbourhood Plan 
The Parish Council ran the statutory pre-submission consultation on the draft plan, 
which ended on 30 June 2020. The local community and statutory consultees were 
invited to offer their comments on the draft neighbourhood plan. The Parish Council are 
reviewing comments received and making changes to the draft plan before formally 
submitting it to the District Council.  The Neighbourhood Plan has limited weight at this 
stage.  

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 
  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 
1. Principle of the development 
2. Impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area 
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
4. Access and Parking 
5. Impact on Trees 
6. Impact on Protected Species 
7. Carbon Reduction 
8. Flood Risk  

 
 
 
6.2 

Principle of the Development 
 
The site is located in an area of countryside where new residential development is 
strictly controlled and generally only permitted in accordance with the circumstances 
outlined within Policy H1 of the SOLP.  However, the proposal is to replace the existing 
dwelling, and Policy H18 allows for replacement dwellings in the countryside provided 
that the following criteria can be met:  
 
i) the residential use of the existing dwelling has not been abandoned; 
ii) the existing dwelling is not subject to a temporary or time limited planning permission; 
iv) within the Green Belt, the proposed replacement dwelling is not materially larger 
than the dwelling it replaces; and 
v) the proposal can demonstrate that satisfactory vehicular access and parking 
arrangements and adequate amenity areas are retained for the replacement dwelling 
 

6.3 The site is not within the Green Belt.  The existing building is in residential use and it is 
not subject to any temporary or time limited permission.  As such the principle of a 
replacement dwelling is acceptable.   
 

Page 83



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

 
 
6.4 

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Site and Surrounding Area 
 
Policy DES1 of the SOLP seeks to deliver high quality development, including through 
demonstrating a respect for the local context working with and complementing the 
scale, height, density, grain, massing, type, and details of the surrounding area.  Policy 
DES2 of the SOLP states that ‘all new development must be designed to reflect the 
positive features that make up the character of the local area and should both 
physically and visually enhance and complement the surroundings’.  The NPPF also 
places a strong emphasis on good design.  Para. 126 states that ‘the creation of high 
quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development’.  
 

6.5 The existing dwelling within the site is relatively modest in scale and height and is of an 
unassuming design that has a neutral impact on its surroundings.  The site and 
surrounding area lie within a flat rural landscape and the immediate locality is 
characterised by loose knit residential development of varying scale, age and design 
with the majority of dwellings occupying large verdant plots.  The neighbouring 
dwellings to either side of the application site comprise a two storey dwelling to the 
south, and a bungalow to the north and they are set in similarly large plots to the 
application site allowing for substantial gaps between the respective dwellings. The 
footprint of Wayside is substantially less than that of the neighbouring dwellings and 
there is clear scope for a larger dwelling to be provided on the site having regard to the 
size of the plot.   
 

6.6 The proposed dwelling comprises of two main sections linked at ground floor and a first 
floor terrace above.  Both of the main sections comprise gables to the front and rear 
and are offset such that the main part of the southern section of the dwelling is set 
approximately 12 metres to the rear of the northern section.  The dwelling would be set 
back further back into the plot compared to the existing dwelling and would be 
approximately 16.5 metres back from Stert Road compared to the comparative distance 
of approximately 12 metres with the existing dwelling.  Also compared to the existing 
dwelling the proposed dwelling would be more than double the width at approximately 
23 metres.  However, the plot is approximately 39 metres in width and gaps to the 
northern and southern boundaries of the site of approximately 8 metres would be 
retained.  In this regard, despite the significant increase in the size of the proposed 
dwelling compared to the existing the dwelling would not appear cramped in its plot.  
 

6.7 The front and rear building lines of the dwelling would be similar in respect of the 
relationship to Stert Road as the neighbouring dwelling and in plan form the siting of the 
dwelling would respect this linear aspect of the adjoining built form allowing for 
substantial space to the front of the dwelling to soften its appearance through the 
retention of existing hedging and providing an opportunity for new planting.  The height 
and massing of the dwelling would be substantial, but would not be harmful to the 
appearance of the area in my view due to the considerable variety of the built form in 
the local area and the substantial size of the plot.  Visibility of the proposed dwelling 
would be limited due to the flat topography of the surrounding area and the screening 
and softening effects of the boundary vegetation.  Public views of the site are limited to 
a short section of Stert Road.  At 8.5 metres in height, the dwelling would not be 
disproportionately high compared to the surrounding dwellings and whilst its massing 
would be significantly greater than neighbouring dwellings this is mitigated by the 
staggered form of the dwelling and the large size of the plot.   
 

6.8 The proposed dwelling has a contemporary appearance but within the context of a 
traditional pitched roof form.  The form and appearance of the main gabled sections of 

Page 84



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

the dwelling are not dissimilar to typical agricultural buildings found in the vicinity and 
the flat roof terraced element is clearly subservient in height and scale to the main parts 
of the dwelling and would be recessive in views from Stert Road.  In my view there is no 
clear justification to prescribe a particular design approach in respect of this site, 
particularly due to the varied designs locally and the site not falling within the AONB or 
any other designated area.  The design is innovative, and appropriate in terms of the 
proposed form and materials, and in my view would not be out of keeping with the 
character and appearance of the site and its surroundings.   
 

 
 
6.9 

Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring and Future Occupiers 
 
Policy DES6 of the SOLP states that ‘development proposals should demonstrate that 
they will not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses, 
when considering both individual and cumulative impacts’ in relation to a number of 
factors including loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, and 
noise or vibration.   
 

6.10 The site shares boundaries with Willowmead to the south and Little Bray to the north. 
The boundary to Willowmead is relatively open and there is little scope for any 
substantial vegetative screening on the boundary due to the presence of the nearby 
power lines.  The proposed dwelling would be set back considerably further into its plot 
than Willowmead so that it would be clearly visible from the rear garden area of 
Willowmead.  However, it is separated from the boundary by over 7 metres and by a 
much further distance to the main part of the house and garden of Willowmead.  Having 
regard to this separation I do not consider that the development would give rise to any 
significant loss of outlook or light to Willowmead.  There are first floor windows on the 
side elevation facing Willowmead, however, loss of privacy can be avoided through 
ensuring that these are set at high level or obscure glazed.  
 

6.11 There is substantial evergreen vegetation on the boundary between the site and Little 
Bray to the north.  The retention of this vegetation would reduce the impact on the 
neighbouring property.  Nevertheless, even if this vegetation is removed the gap 
between the dwelling and the shared boundary is sufficient to avoid any significant loss 
of light or outlook, and again first floor side facing windows are either secondary 
bedroom windows or relate to bathroom accommodation and can be set at high level or 
obscure glazed.  Views from the proposed central first floor terraced area and small 
rear facing balcony are restricted by the main sections of the dwelling and in any case 
the terrace is positioned well over 10 metres from either boundary.   
 

6.12 Policy DES5 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that a suitable outdoor garden area is 
provided for all new dwellings.  The site benefits from a very large plot, and the 
development clearly meets this requirement.   
 

 
 
6.13 

Access and Parking 
 
Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP seeks, inter alia, to ensure that development is provided 
with a safe and convenient access and sufficient parking.  The proposal seeks to retain 
the existing accesses and there is clearly scope to provide sufficient parking and 
turning within the site.  Any increased traffic as a result of the larger dwelling compared 
to the existing would not be significant in the context of the local highway network.   
 

 
 
6.14 

Impact on Trees 
 
Policy ENV1 of the SOLP states that development will only be permitted where it 
protects and, where possible enhances, features that contribute to the nature and 

Page 85



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

quality of South Oxfordshire’s landscapes, including trees, hedgerows, and field 
boundaries.  There are no protected trees within or adjacent to the site, nevertheless, 
the trees within the site, particularly on the northern boundary, make a valuable 
contribution to the local landscape and should be retained.  A tree survey and tree 
constraints plan has been submitted in support of the application and demonstrates that 
the development can be carried out without detriment to the adjacent trees that 
contribute positively to the character of the area.  Tree protection measures will be 
required during the construction period.  Through the submission of a landscaping 
scheme there is also scope for significant new tree planting to soften the development 
and help to assimilate it into its rural surrounding.   
 

 
 
6.15 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Impact on Protected Species 
 
Policy ENV2 of the SOLP relates to the protection of biodiversity, including protected 
habitats and species.  Development would normally only be acceptable if any impact on 
protected species can be avoided or mitigated.  In response to the Countryside Officer’s 
initial comments a stage 1 ecological assessment was carried out and found evidence 
of bats roosting at the site.  The assessment outlines proposals to mitigate and 
compensate for the loss of the bat roost, including the installation of bat boxes.   

6.16 The development has been entered into the Great Crested Newt (GCN) district licence 
scheme to address the risk of impacts to GCN. Conditions are recommended to ensure 
that the scheme meets the requirements of the licence.   
 

 
 
6.17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carbon Reduction 
 
Policy DES10 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that new dwellings achieve at least a 40% 
reduction in carbon emissions compared with a code 2013 Building Regulations 
compliant base case. This reduction will be secured through renewable energy and 
other low carbon technologies and/ or energy efficiency measures.  The application is 
not accompanied by an Energy Statement, however, in accordance with the council’s 
public information regarding the application of Policy DES10 it is appropriate in this 
instance for a condition to be imposed pursuant to the requirements of this Policy 
because the application was registered prior to 1 April 2021.  It is clear from the design 
and access statement that the intention is to create an energy efficient dwelling in any 
case.  The relevant section of the statement is repeated below.  
 
The emphasis is to create a more passive house with minimal energy demand to start 
with, by thoroughly insulating the envelope throughout, using high-performance 
materials, boarding and airtight membranes – mitigated by a mechanical background  
ventilation system with heat recovery, for optimum efficiency….With reduced heating 
requirements and A to A+++ rated appliances, the only other electrical energy draw is 
from the lighting. This is offset by large and regularly spaced windows to all areas 
including the more central parts. Rainwater harvesting is also incorporated into the 
proposals, to ensure a holistic and sustainable development. With a roof of greater than 
300sqm in area more than half the demand can be met for a house of this size (in terms 
of flushing toilets, using the washing machine and for outdoor irrigation/cleaning etc.) In 
order to store and protect against drought days a 5,000 litre tank is required and will be 
fitted below ground in the rear garden for this purpose. 
 

6.18 Having regard to the requirements of Policy TRANS5 I have recommended a condition 
to secure an electric vehicle charging point.  
 
 
 

Page 86



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 2 March 2022 

 
 
6.19 

Flood Risk 
 
The rear part of the application site lies within Flood Zone 3, however, the proposed 
development is taking place on the front part of the site, which is within Flood Zone 1.  
Therefore, there are no constraints to the development on the grounds of flood risk.  
The council’s drainage engineer is satisfied that the scheme is acceptable subject to 
the surface water and foul drainage being agreed.  
   

 
 
6.20 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
The proposed development comprises a new dwelling which will be liable for CIL.  
 

7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The application site is located within the countryside where the principle of a 

replacement dwelling is acceptable having regard to Policy H18 of the SOLP.  The 
proposed development would respect the character and appearance of the site and the 
surrounding area and would not result in material harm to the amenity of adjoining 
residential occupiers.  Subject to the recommended conditions, the development would 
also have an acceptable impact on protected species and trees and would not be 
prejudicial to highway safety.   

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. Commencement of development within three years 
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans 
3. A schedule of external facing materials to be agreed 
4. A soft and hard landscaping scheme to be agreed  
5. Tree protection details to be agreed 
6. Surface water drainage details to be agreed 
7. Foul water drainage details to be agreed 
8. Development in accordance with bat mitigation plan 
9. Development in accordance with requirements of the district GCN licence 
10. No development to take place until a certificate confirming all GCN 

compensation measures has been submitted 
11. Demolition of existing buildings prior to occupation of dwelling 
12. Energy statement to be agreed 
13. Electric vehicle charging point to be installed 
14. Closure of existing access 
15. Parking and turning to be carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans 
16. Windows at first and second floor level in north west and south east to be 

obscure glazed or at least 1.7m above internal floor area 
17. Withdrawal of permitted development for Class A extensions 

  

 

Author: Tom Wyatt 

Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Tel: 01235 422600 

 

Page 87

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 89

Agenda Item 12P21/S1458/FUL



Appendix B

P
age 90



P
age 91



P
age 92



P
age 93



Page 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	8 P21/S3371/FUL - Tree Tops House, Gillotts Lane, Henley-on-Thames
	Appendices A-B
	Appendix A.1
	Appendix A.2
	Appendix B.1
	Sheets and Views
	LP01 - LOCATION PLAN APARTMENTS


	Appendix B.2
	Sheets and Views
	21-J3641 - Treetops, Gillots Lane, Henley-on-Thames 11.10.21 ST-001 - SITE PLAN APARTMENTS


	Appendix B.3
	Sheets and Views
	002 - CONTEXT PLAN APARTMENTS


	Appendix B.4
	Sheets and Views
	004 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	Appendix B.5
	Sheets and Views
	005 - PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS


	Appendix B.6
	Sheets and Views
	006 - PROPOSED BIN & CYCLE AND CAR PORT


	Appendix B.7
	Sheets and Views
	003 - HARD SURFACING & BOUNDARY TREATMENTS




	9 P21/S4250/FUL - 25 Glebe Road, Didcot
	Appendices 1-2
	1
	2 Site Location & Block Plan drwgno 21-12_PL01B
	2a Plans & Elevations Existing drwgno 21-12_PL04
	2b Plans & Elevations Proposed drwgno 21-12_PL03_7


	10 P21/S3973/FUL - 14 Haydon Road, Didcot
	Apendices 1-3
	1 Appendix 1 Location & Block Plan Existing & Proposed drwgno 21 13 PL01 Rev A
	2 Elevations & Floor Plans Existing drwgno 21 13 PL02
	2b Elevations Proposed drwgno 21 13 PL04 10
	2c Floor & Roof Plan Proposed drwgno 21 12 PL03 10
	3 Block & Location Plan Existing & Proposed drwgno 21-13 PL01
	3a Elevations Proposed drwgno 21-13 PL04
	3b Floor Plans Proposed dwgno 21-13_PL03A


	11 P21/S5378/FUL - Ridgeway House, 1A Hagbourne Road, Didcot
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2_1
	Appendix 2_2
	Appendix 2_3
	Appendix 2_4


	12 P21/S1458/FUL - Wayside, Stert Road, Chinnor
	Appendices A-B
	1 ALocation plan
	2 Elevation Front Proposed drwgno 1048-P09 rA
	2a Elevation Rear Proposed drwgno 1048-P10 rA - Proposed Rea
	2b Elevation Flank Proposed drwgno 1048-P11 rA
	2c Elevation Flank Proposed drwgno 1048-P12 rA
	2d Floor Ground Plan Proposed drwgno 1048-P07 rA
	2e Floor First & Second Plan Proposed drwgno 1048-P08 rA
	2f Site & Roof Plan Existing drwgno 1048-P02 r0
	2g Site & Roof Plan Proposed drwgno 1048-P06 rA



